Proposal for a continuation of the

International Research Training Group Development and Application of Intelligent Detectors

at the



Ruprecht-Karls-Universität Heidelberg, Germany





University of Bergen, Norway University of Oslo, Norway

Anticipated funding period: 01.04.2009 - 30.09.2013Submission date: 01.04.2008

Heidelberg, March 25, 2008

Contents

1	Ger	neral Information	5
	1.1	Program Title	5
	1.2	Applying Universities	5
	1.3	Applying Scientists	5
	1.4	Summary	8
	1.5	Anticipated duration/ starting date	9
	1.6	Anticipated number of participants	9
2	IRT	G Profile 1	1
3	Res	earch Program 1	5
	3.1	ALICE	5
		3.1.1 ALICE - online	5
		3.1.2 ALICE - operation and calibration	6
		3.1.3 ALICE - physics analysis	7
	3.2	ATLAS 1	7
	3.3	LHCb	8
	3.4	CBM at FAIR	8
		3.4.1 TOF system	9
		3.4.2 Event selection $\ldots \ldots 1$	9
		3.4.3 Detector control system	0
	3.5	Hadron calorimeter at the International Linear Collider (ILC) 2	0
	3.6	Research topics	2
	3.7	Proposed thesis topics	3
4	Stu	dy Program 2	6
	4.1	Regular advanced lectures	$^{\circ}7$
	4.2	Exchange program	8
	4.3	IRTG workshops and schools	9
	4.4	Bi-weekly Seminars	0
	4.5	Soft skill seminars	0

	4.6	Post c	loc position $\ldots \ldots 31$
	4.7	Proce	dural details
		4.7.1	Admission to the IRTG
		4.7.2	Supervision and Performance evaluation
		4.7.3	Doctoral degree
5	Vis	iting s	cientist program 34
6	Org	ganizat	ional Structure 35
7	Infr	astruc	ture 37
	7.1	Affilia	tion with (inter)national research projects $\ldots \ldots 37$
	7.2	Availa	able infrastructure at German institutes
		7.2.1	Scientific personal
		7.2.2	Technical Personal
		7.2.3	ASIC Laboratory at Heidelberg University
	7.3	Availa	able infrastructure at Norwegian institutes
		7.3.1	Scientific personal
		7.3.2	Technical Personal
		7.3.3	Office and laboratory space
		7.3.4	Laboratories at UiB
		7.3.5	Laboratories at UiO 40
8	Fun	ding	42
	8.1	Fundi	ng (German side) $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 42$
		8.1.1	Scholarships for PhD students
		8.1.2	Postdoc position
		8.1.3	Joint activities
		8.1.4	Travel of students and postdoc
		8.1.5	Participation in international conferences 43
		8.1.6	Mobility costs
		8.1.7	Support for visiting scientists
		8.1.8	Soft skill seminars
		8.1.9	Coordination cost
		8.1.10	Total Sum
	8.2	Fundi	ng (Norwegian side) $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 44$
		8.2.1	Scholarships for PhD students
		8.2.2	Postdoc positions
		8.2.3	Joint activities
		8.2.4	Mobility costs
		8.2.5	Support for visiting scientists

	8.2.6 Participation at international conferences				
	8.2.7	Soft skill seminars	46		
	8.2.8	Coordination cost	46		
9	Publicatio	ns	47		
10	Signatures	i -	79		

Chapter 1

General Information

1.1 Program Title

Entwicklung und Anwendung von intelligenten Detektoren Development and application of intelligent detectors

1.2 Applying Universities

Ruprecht-Karls-Universität Heidelberg, Germany University of Bergen, Norway University of Oslo, Norway

1.3 Applying Scientists

Name, First Name,	Department / Institute	Telephone	Area of Expertise
Akad. title	Address	Email,	
		Internet	
Herrmann, Norbert,	Physikalisches Institut	06221 - 549464/475733,	Heavy Ion
(speaker) Prof. Dr.	Philosophenweg 12	herrmann@physi.uni-heidelberg.de	
	69121 Heidelberg	http://www.physi.uni-heidelberg.de	
Roehrich, Dieter,	Department of Physics University	+47-555-82722/89440	Heavy Ion
	of Bergen		
Prof. Dr.	Allegaten 55	Dieter.Rohrich@fi.uib.no	
	5007 Bergen, Norway	http://ifteng.iportal.uib.no	
Kebschull, Udo,	Kirchhoff-Institut für Physik	+49-6221-549802	Computer Science
Prof. Dr.		kebschull@kip.uni-heidelberg.de	
Lindenstruth, Volker,	Kirchhoff-Institut für Physik	+49-6221-549801	Computer Science
Prof. Dr.		ti@kip.uni-heidelberg.de	
Meier, Karlheinz,	Kirchhoff-Institut für Physik	+49-6221-549831	High Energy
Prof. Dr.		meierk@kip.uni-heidelberg.de	
Schultz-Coulon, Hans-Christian,	Kirchhoff-Institut für Physik	+49-6221-549281	High Energy
Prof. Dr.		schultz-coulon@kip.uni-heidelberg.de	
Stachel, Johanna,	Physikalisches Institut,	$+49\ 6221-549224,$	Heavy Ion
Prof. Dr.		stachel@physi.uni-heidelberg.de	
Uwer, Ulrich,	Physikalisches Institut,		High Energy
Prof. Dr.		uwer@physi.uni-heidelberg.de	
Eigen, Gerald,	Department of Physics Bergen	+47-555-82861	Particle Physics
Prof. Dr.		Gerald.Eigen@fi.uib.no	
Lipniacka, Anna,	Department of Physics Bergen	+47-555-89440	Particle Physics

Prof. Dr.		Anna.Lipniacka@fi.uib.no	
Stugu, Bjarne,	Department of Physics Bergen	+47-555-82769	Particle Physics
Prof. Dr.		Bjarne.Stugu@fi.uib.no	
Nystrand, Joakim,	Department of Physics Bergen	+47-555-82776	Nuclear Physics
Prof. Dr.		Joakim.Nystrand@fi.uib.no	
Ullaland, Kjetil,	Department of Physics Bergen	+47-555-82871	Microelectronics
Prof. Dr.		Kjetil.Ullaland@fi.uib.no	
Helstrup, Haavard,	Faculty of Engineering	+47-555-87561	Technical Computing
Prof. Dr.	University College	Havard.Helstrup@hib.no	
	Bergen		
Skaali, Bernhard,	Department of Physics	+47-228-56470	Electronics
Prof. Dr.	University of Oslo	T.B.Skaali@fys.uio.no	
Svensson, Bengt Gunnar,	Department of Physics	+47-228-57467	Electronics
Prof. Dr.	University of Oslo	B.G.Svensson@fys.uio.no	
Tveter, Trine,	Department of Physics	+47-228-56414	Nuclear Physics
Prof. Dr.	University of Oslo	T.S.Tveter@fys.uio.no	
Stapnes, Steinar,	Department of Physics	+47-228-55063	Particle Physics
Prof. Dr.	University of Oslo	Steinar.Stapnes@fi.uio.no	

1.4 Summary

The International Research Training Group (IRTG) on intelligent detectors is developing and applying detection systems for particle and nuclear physics that integrate modern information technologies as key features. The design, development and operation of such detectors is the key for advanced nuclear, particle and astro physics. It requires a profound knowledge in a variety of fields that is made available in the interdisciplinary cooperation of physicists working on detector design, signal readout and data analysis, together with departments that focus on information science and work on signal processing, pattern recognition and data management. Some of the technological aspects involved include the design of application-specific integrated circuits (ASIC), design and programming of circuits implementing programmable electronics (FPGAs) and the design and operation of large scale compute facilities (Cluster, GRID) that have to be considered an integral part of next generation detector systems.

The IRTG links the expertise that is available in Heidelberg and Norway (Bergen/Oslo), and has demonstrated that the scientific exchange leads to new contacts and proposals. The expertise available in the different locations is largely complementary, allowing cross fertilization and for the participating students offering the possibility for a broader education in partially highly specialized fields.

In both countries many of the recent major experiments in high energy elementary particle and nuclear physics are represented: ALICE, ATLAS, BABAR, CBM, CERES, FOPI, H1, HeraB, LHCb in Heidelberg and AL-ICE, ATLAS, BRAHMS, NA57 in Bergen/Oslo and by this, a large particle physics background is available to the IRTG. On the technological side there is a nice complementarity: for example ASIC design and cluster computing are well recognized in Heidelberg, while FPGA-based hardware/software co-design is more centered in Bergen.

Project-oriented collaborations among the participating groups will continue to be strengthened by the IRTG. Common research interests are existing and have been pursued in the past, like the ALICE High Level Trigger (HLT), that is run and operated commonly from KIP/Heidelberg and Bergen. In the next funding period of the IRTG the program will focus on the exploitation of the development effort for the experiments ALICE and ATLAS and will lead to common projects for the major future international facilities: FAIR at Darmstadt and the ILC. Specific Projects have been already defined: CBM at FAIR and the Hadron Calorimeter at the ILC.

The continuation of the IRTG will give the unique opportunities to involve students on all levels of high energy particle physics from conceptual design over prototyping to actual running of the experiments. This coming phase will be most interesting as during this period the first LHC data taking and data analysis is going to take place. In particular after the first data has been taken advanced trigger algorithms are expected to be required to be developed, where the IRTG will form an ideal operation basis.

The teaching program is held in English and is open to all local members of the particle physics community. The students are lead to the forefront of experimental nuclear, particle and space physics and are given the chance to acquire hands-on experience on the most advanced design, simulation and analysis tools available today. The IRTG is embedded into the larger Heidelberg Graduate School of Fundamental Physics (HGSFP) that is providing additional more generic education, e.g. soft-skill seminars that will be covering the aspects of work organization, time planning and presentation techniques.

1.5 Anticipated duration/ starting date

Duration: continuation 4.5 years starting: 1. April 2009 ending: 30. September 2013

1.6 Anticipated number of participants

In Germany Heidelberg is applying to continue at the existing level of 12 PhD. stipends and 1 Bat IIa / TVL-13 PostDoc position. The total number of participating students will be larger by about a factor of two. About 20 additional students funded from other resources will participate in the educational activities of the IRTG. We request funding of increased basic scholarships for the students in order to be more competitive in an economical environment, where the best students are being lost very easily and to accommodate increased cost of living in the high price area of Heidelberg. In order to be able to offer an attractive and top-level education program that is tailored to the needs of the participants, a TVL-13 position is requested for a postdoctoral fellow (for details of the tasks and the requested profile see section 4.6. The total number of postdocs participating in the research activities of the IRTG is estimated to be about 10, providing the necessary intellectual and knowledge-based environment and knowledge from which Ph.D. students will profit. In Norway, a total of eight Ph.D. stipends are being requested in Bergen and Oslo. We note that German Ph.D. stipends are roughly half the size of Norwegian Ph.D. grants. The application includes requests for funding of running costs, e.g. for organizing workshops/schools and to cover travel expenses. The total number of Norwegian students participating in the IRTGs educational program is about 20. The number of Norwegian postdoctoral fellows involved in the projects related to the IRTG is about four. In summary about 30 Ph.D. students will continue to form the body of the IRTG participating in the regular advanced lectures and workshops. With such a number of students the investments in terms of manpower in specific education is well justified, and in turn a sizeable number of students will benefit from the specific offers of the IRTG.

Chapter 2

IRTG Profile

The basic Ansatz of the IRTG will not be changed and is reproduced here from the original proposal: the focus of the proposed International Research Training Group is Intelligent Detectors and Detector Systems. They are characterized by exploiting the latest developments in sensor technology and merging it with the latest advances in electronics and information science. Such systems emerge from the interdisciplinary interplay of three different building blocks (illustrated below) as set forth below:

- 1. Fundamental physics like elementary particle and nuclear physics is one of the major driving forces to advance new detector technology. Experiments that are to be performed in the near future, will present new and challenging problems for data taking and analysis. Very rare signals have to be detected with sufficient accuracy and significance from an extremely large background. The design of modern detection systems is based on the possibility and the knowledge to model the response of the apparatus in detail with respect to the anticipated signal and unavoidable background by means of simulations. The basic task is to derive experimental observables that are linked robustly to the interesting fundamental physics properties of the system. The necessary data rates for many future experiments are so high that the electronics and the data processing has to be considered an integral part of the detector systems. The sensors converting physical observables to electronic signals have to be equipped with on-board intelligence and/or efficient data management in order to form a system capable of fulfilling the physics requirements. The system features must already be incorporated into the design phase of new devices in order to make a realistic assessment of the performance.
- 2. The second cornerstone is the rapid development of modern electronics



Figure 2.1: Building blocks of the IRTG

and information processing technology. Thus, exciting new possibilities for (particle and nuclear) physics detectors are arising. Due to the ever growing integration and better flexible customization, very complex tasks can nowadays be executed on the detector while simultaneously taking data. The integration of the latest technological possibilities into a new detector design is, however, a very complex task. It requires a profound understanding of all the implications of the choice of a certain technology and should ideally be supported by some experience of its implementation. Acquiring the skills to handle the technologically advanced systems requires special training. The International Research Training Group aims to link in an interdisciplinary fashion basic physics needs with modern cutting-edge electronics and informatics science.

3. The concept of using modern information technology in large scale physics experiments is of course not new. Present day examples for Intelligent Detectors are the running experiments at the Relativistic Heavy Ion Collider RHIC at Brookhaven National Laboratory and the planned experiments at the Large Hadron Collider (LHC) at CERN. Several of these experiments (BRAHMS, ALICE, ATLAS and LHCb) are represented by the participants of the IRTG. Local intelligence is implemented for trigger needs in form of ASICs evaluating and compressing the data of specific subsystems and performing the decisive event selection. Special hardware is being installed for organizing the data flow and for fast pattern recognition. The experience gained during the development and the operation of those systems is essential for success of the next-generation development. The evaluation of the performance of the running systems constitutes another important verification step of the whole detector concept. This can only be achieved by running through the full analysis chain and trying to derive those signatures that the detector was designed for. Additional challenges have to be mastered in that area, such as monitoring and controlling a very large number of setup parameters and handling huge amounts of output data. The necessary corresponding techniques are included in the menu of activities of the IRTG.

In particular the International Research Training Group aims at linking these building blocks, namely

- the experience with running state-of-the-art detectors and information
- processing systems to arising future needs,
- physics requirements to possible detection system performance and analysis experience to system specification and verification.

This is clearly an interdisciplinary task that needs expertise from several different research areas and research groups. One focus of the next years of IRTG research is the exploitation of the first data to be taken at the LHC accelerator. This requires on one hand the understanding of the various detectors and their calibration. Further the event reconstruction has to be furthered to a level, allowing at least a semi automatic reconstruction off-line, using the distributed analysis framework on the GRID. In order to verify the online data, quality monitoring infrastructure has to be deployed, allowing both an on-line event reconstruction and the identification of potential problems in the data stream as well as the selection of rare events for physics recording. Such algorithms are subject to constant development and improvement.

In addition this proposed period of the IRTG provides a unique opportunity for new advanced developments, as proven concepts, which have successfully been applied at the LHC detectors, which are now almost fully commissioned, can now be transferred safely to upcoming new challenges at ILC and FAIR. Typical Ph.D. candidates are going to work on both fronts, therefore simultaneously being exposed to two radically different phases of the development and operation of large scale experiments. One example is the joint development of the ALICE and CBM on-line track reconstruction. The disciplines required for the research and developments within the framework of the IRTG are:

- Nuclear
- Physics
- High Energy Physics
- Detector Physics
- Sensoric
- Microelectronics and Electronics
- Computer Engineering
- Computer Science
- High Performance Computing for on-line/off-line event reconstruction

Chapter 3

Research Program

The research program is building on the existing strong collaboration between Heidelberg and Bergen/Oslo specifically on the ALICE experiment with its components TPC and TRD detector , High Level Trigger (HLT) and TRD Trigger, Detector Control System (DCS) and physics simulations. This will be naturally extended to detector operation and physics analysis.

The second major building block for the future interest is ATLAS where strong groups from Germany and Norway are involved in.

The research program is augmented and extended due to new contacts from the current funding period that resulted in two common projects for the future facilities FAIR and ILC.

The visions for the future activities are detailed in the following.

3.1 ALICE

3.1.1 ALICE - online

The ALICE experiment implements two complex on-line trigger systems, developed, deployed and operated by the computer engineering group at KIP (Lindenstruth). Both triggers received major contributions during the last years by members of the IRTG group and would not have reached successfully the operating state of today without this contribution.

The ALICE High Level Trigger (HLT) is deployed according to schedule as minimum set with about 150 computers but with an infrastructure supporting up to 900 computers. The on-line TPC tracker was co-developed with CBM and allows unprecedented fast event reconstruction. The algorithm scales well and was demonstrated to run on a CELL processor, using the CBM version. The ALICE version is operational at CERN. The algorithm is of such interest that it is currently being used at the CERN openlab for verification of new processor architectures. During the next funding period we plan to further this algorithms performance by porting it onto a graphics co-processor as hardware accelerator and by preparing it for the next upcoming high-performance, massively parallel multi-core processor architectures. At this point a strong collaboration with industry is emerging.

The ALICE TRD trigger is installed also at CERN. The most complex part is the Global Tracking Unit (GTU). It implements about 100 high-density FP-GAs, processing the tracklet data, being received from the 1080 2,5 GBits/sec fibers. This system was developed by members of the IRTG and is now commissioned. Several trigger algorithms are envisioned to be executed even in first year, which now have to be developed and benchmarked. The GTU presents a fantastic instrument, as it has access to all high pt tracklets in every event candidate within less than 5 microseconds.

The hardware acceleration concepts and high performance concepts, developed in the framework of the ALICE trigger systems can be also used for generic high performance computing and shall be deployed there also. Appropriate contacts have already been made and small projects been started. We intend to continue in this direction in particular after the CERN trigger systems are fully commissioned and being operated routinely.

3.1.2 ALICE - operation and calibration

The ALICE TRD subsystem that was one of the major new detector developments in the last funding period will see its complete installation within about one from now. In order to prepare the system for physics the 1.2 million readout channels need to be consistently calibrated. For this large number of channels new strategies have to be developed and applied for quality assurance and monitoring.

The electron identification, the TRDs most important goal, needs to be optimized making use of real data. Well identified tracks by other subsystems (TPC, ITS) will be used in order to study the response of the TRD in detail and especially map out the inhomogeneities. Proton-Proton data that are expected to become available in 2008 will provide very useful information, but the final challenge will be the Pb+Pb interactions, from which 20.000 tracks are expected to simultaneously hit the detector in 2010. All these response studies are necessary and have to be quantitatively concluded before activating the TRD trigger capability that is foreseen for 2011. With proper parameters loaded into the distributed 65.000 node system of the TRD unique event selection capabilities will be achieved. Most importantly, bottomonia states will be made accessible for a first measurement.

3.1.3 ALICE - physics analysis

The physics analysis will employ the full scope of observables that have been established also by the participating groups in the predecessor experiments at SPS and RHIC.

Having made significant contributions to the central tracking and PID system of ALICE a certain focus will be placed on those where the electron identification is entering. These are most prominently the Quarkonia states J/Ψ and Υ whose abundance probes significantly the properties of the Quark-Gluon-Plasma. The techniques for the reconstruction of those vector mesons have already been developed during the current funding period but the application to real data will certainly represent a real challenge ideally suited for students participating in the IRTG. Direct feed back to the online event selection scheme is expected allowing for a fast optimization.

As demonstrated by experiments at RHIC (BNL,USA) also particles with open charm and bottom (D- and B- mesons) can be effectively reconstructed by their semileptonic decays. Studying their abundance and flow pattern will give direct access to basic QGP quantities. This type of analysis requires a detailed understanding of the system response and the background that will be established by the successive analysis of proton-proton and heavy ion data. Besides electron identification, high transverse momenta can be efficiently reconstructed by the TRD subsystem. This gives access to another very important observable in heavy ion collisions: high energy jets loose a significant part of their energy in the deconfined matter state, this effect being called jet quenching. Mapping this effect over the full kinematic region will give access to basic quantities of QCD in its deconfined state.

All these analysis will make use of the full information available in the events and require all the data analysis technology and infrastructure that has been setup for ALICE. GRID computing will be applied on the user level and clearly will evolve by the direct feedback from users to developers. The IRTG offers ideal grounds for advancing these technologies.

3.2 ATLAS

The ATLAS detector will be operated and produce physics output as well as practical experiences with a highly complex detector system. The detector aspect is of major relevance for the IRTG and the students involved. AT-LAS will for the first time give insights into the problems to be encountered during the operation of such a large-scale technology. The experience gained there will be invaluable for the planning and operation of future large-scale facilities in science and industry. It is planned to strongly involve IRTG student in this exciting endeavor. Their work will also form the basis for a possible ATLAS Upgrade programme, which is currently entering an R&D phase. The improvement of the ATLAS data selection capabilities based on the data gathered during the first year will form a major goal of the work performed in the Heidelberg-KIP group. As a concrete project the group plans to propose an integrated mixed-signal VLSI solution as an input stage of the ATLAS level-1 trigger. This work will be performed in close cooperation with international project partners but also with a second ATLAS group, which is likely to emerge at the PI in Heidelberg in 2008.

3.3 LHCb

The LHCb experiment allows a large number of high-precision measurements of different B meson decay properties. The comparison with the Standard Model prediction will offer a way to search for physics beyond our current knowledge and complements the direct searches for New Physics at high q^2 by the ATLAS and CMS experiment. The reconstruction and measurements of B decays will rely heavily on excellent track and vertex reconstruction as well as particle identification.

The Heidelberg LHCb group has taken major responsibilities for the construction, commissioning and operation of the LHCb tracking system. The group is thus in charge of one of the key elements of the LHCb experiment. IRTG students will be involved in the operation and calibration of the LHCb tracking detector. Heidelberg students will play a major role in the understanding and optimization of the tracking detector performance. The IRTG provides a stimulating environment in which similar tracking projects, e.g. the work on the ALICE TRD, will lead to significant synergies.

Beyond the engagement in the track reconstruction the Heidelberg LHCb group will involve IRTG students also in the data analysis: It is the aim that Heidelberg contributes to one of the LHCb "flag-ship analysis" namely to the measurement of CP violation in the decay channel $B_s \rightarrow J/\psi\phi$. The work on this topic has already started with contributions by C.Langenbruch one of the current IRTG students.

3.4 CBM at FAIR

The Compressed Baryonic Matter Experiment CBM will be installed at the FAIR facility and is expected to take data starting in 2015. It aims at

measuring rare probes as signatures of highly compressed baryonic matter that will be produced in heavy-ion collisions at incident energies of 10 - 35 AGeV with so far unprecedented rates. An interaction rate of 10 MHz is targeted even for the heaviest systems, requiring completely new detector and data acquisition technologies. Various groups of the IRTG are already members of the collaboration and will join forces in the framework of the IRTG.

3.4.1 TOF system

One PI group (Herrmann) is involved already since 2004 in the design and development of the Time-of-flight system for CBM. The proposal is based on Multigap Multi Strip Resistive Plate Chambers (MMRPC) that have been successfully been built and operated by the group in the FOPI experiment. A timing resolution of better than 100 ps has been achieved on a detector area of about 5 m². In the next 4 years, the technology will have be developed and demonstrated to enhance the intrinsic rate capability of the counters from 20Hz to 10 kHz and to find concepts, to deal with very different hit densities in an efficient manner. The research includes the design of impedance matched wide strip counters as well as the development of high bandwidth electronics with adjustable input impedance. Synergies are expected from the collaboration with analog ASIC designers (Stachel) and electronics groups (Ullaland).

A really 'intelligent' solution will have to be found to make the TOF detector data available for fast event selection within the system that will be developed by the KIP - group (Lindenstruth). Such a solution is necessary to obtain online background reduction in the measurement of open charm (D-mesons) and will determine how close to the production threshold CBM will be able to run.

3.4.2 Event selection

The CBM detector system does not implement a dead time system but every sensor produces time stamped hits if the corresponding signals are found above a certain threshold. The advantage of such architecture is the abolishment of any particular latency requirement for any given event. The corresponding data streams exceed 10 Terrabits/sec, also requiring on-line event filtering and selection. Such processing system has similarities with a High Level Trigger, operating at much higher event rates and without a specific trigger system. The KIP computer engineering group (Lindenstruth) will concentrate in agreement with the CBM management on this subject, using the experience and technologies, developed for ALICE ad LHCb during the last phase of the IRTG.

3.4.3 Detector control system

During the first IRTG funding period from 2005 to 2008, a novel FPGA refresh technology based on partial dynamic reconfiguration was developed (Kebschull). The purpose of this technology was to extend the meantime between failures (MTBF) caused by single event upsets (SEUs). Single event upsets affect the FPGA configuration and lead to malfunction of the active design. SEUs are caused by high energy particles passing through the FPGA chip. The novel refresh technology was successfully used for ALICE TPC readout controller (ROC). Current estimates show, that in CBM the radiation doses will be much higher than for ALICE TPC. Therefore, new and more effective radiation tolerance technologies for FPGAs need to and will be explored.

Within this research, we want to investigate the impact of fault tolerance technologies like ECC for RAMs and busses, and we want to design radiation tolerant IP components like CPU, busses, memory controllers and I/O, especially optimized to run on FPGA using the refresh technology.

This work has to be carried out in close cooperation with our Norwegian colleagues in Bergen and Oslo: The application in ROC and DCS will be implemented together with Bergen (Röhrich) and beam test will be done in Oslo (Skaali). These beam test will measure the achieved improvement in radiation tolerance.

Therefore the IRTG is a perfect vehicle to enhance these kind of cooperations.

3.5 Hadron calorimeter at the International Linear Collider (ILC)

Since 2006 the Heidelberg KIP group (Schultz-Coulon) is involved in the R&D activities for a high-performance hadron calorimeter (HCAL) for the International Linear Collider (ILC). The challenging physics goals of the ILC impose stringent demands on the detector, which by far exceed what is possible with present detector technologies. This is particularly true for the calorimetry, as the anticipated jet-energy resolution necessitates the combination of tracking and calorimeter information and consequently a separation of showers originating from neutral and from charged particles. This is only possible with a highly granular calorimeter, which resolves the complete shape of individual showers. Such a calorimeter is presently developed in

the framework of the CALICE collaboration, where the analogue option for the hadronic part (AHCAL) is based on a sampling structure with scintillating tiles individually readout by so-called Silicon-Photomultiplier (SiPM) mounted directly on each tile.

Presently the ILC activities at the KIP comprise the characterization of new Silicon-Photomultipliers, work on test-beam measurements using the first AHCAL prototype and the development of highly integrated electronics for SiPM-readout. Further plans are the development of infrastructure to allow large-scale quality assurance tests of integrated sensor-scintillating systems, which are mandatory when building a calorimeter with millions of channels. The SiPM-studies - also in view of a possible application in medical imaging - are planned in collaboration with the IRTG group at the University of Bergen (G. Eigen et al.); both groups are - among others - partners in a new proposal for the 7th framework program of the EU. Hence, the ILC activities will profit significantly from the scientific exchange fostered by the International Graduate School on Intelligent Detectors, circumstances, which have already been very helpful when initiating the new involvement. Both activities will also profit from the excellent technical infrastructure in Heidelberg. In particular the new HGF Terascale Alliance will be of strong importance for the ambitious electronics and VLSI development.

Summary:

Techniques developed for todays experiments are being used under harsh real conditions and are tested for their applicability for future even more demanding tasks. Towards that goal the implemented techniques are extended and refined employing the most advanced technologies.

- 1. Full coverage of all the stages of modern intelligent nuclear/particle detection system design and operation
 - physics analysis
 - physics simulation
 - detector simulation
 - detector construction, system integration
 - readout design, development and operation
 - trigger design, development and operation
 - data handling and data management
 - online data selection
 - offline event reconstruction

- GRID computing
- High performance computing
- 2. Development of new, integrated detection techniques for next generation machines (e.g. FAIR, ILC, astrophysics satellites). Here the demands are very high with respect to the event/data rates and efficient real-time processing required for rare signals.

3.6 Research topics

The following sections give a brief collection of some of the core research topics foreseen for the upcoming funding period within the framework of the IRTG. They are organized in line with the various stages listed in the workplans set forth in sections 3.1 - 3.5. All subjects cover a rather large field of activities, thus supporting many possible Ph.D. theses.

1. Physics analysis

After 20 years of development the next few years will give the unique chance to apply now the new detector concepts and extract physics signals. This results will have direct feed-back to further design considerations. Especially 'rare signal' analysis fits into the scope of the IRTG, since this will be even more demanding at future facilities. Identified projects that are of common interest to several groups within the IRTG are:

- Jet analysis in ALICE and ATLAS
- Quarkonia production
- single photons production (ATLAS, ALICE)
- Charm (Bottom) Tagging by secondary vertices (BABAR, CBM, LHCb, ALICE)
- 2. Detector simulation

New detectors are being developed in the context of the IRTG working groups that need detailed response simulations:

• Multigap Multistrip Resistive Plate Chamber (MMRPC) This detector is forseen for the Time-of-flight wall of the CBM experiment at the future FAIR facility, but is also finding more and more customers in other hadron physics experiments. • Hadronic calorimeter (HCAL) for the International Linear Collider (ILC)

Here the challenge is to do active calorimetry by tracing the subshowers of all impinging particles by combining tracking and calorimeter information. This concept is also of interest to the muon system of CBM.

3. System integration and operation

Major subsystem will be interfaced, calibrated and operated in the world largest experiments by the participating groups:

- TRD of ALICE
- HLT of ALICE
- ATLAS Calorimeter Trigger
- 4. Experiment operation, Slow control

The harsh environment at the LHC will be topped by the next generation machines thus requiring new strategies for making detector control hardware that very effectively uses FPGAs and other commercial components more radiation tolerant.

5. Electronics design

New radiation tolerant high density ASIC designs are necessary for the next generation experiments at FAIR and ILC.

6. Data aquisition / Trigger system development

The classical hardware trigger scheme is planned to be replaced by an software based 'event selection'. The necessary hardware and software tools need to be developed.

7. GRID computing

The LHC experiments will deliver an so far unseen amount of data. The GRID has been developed to cope with this load and will be challenged by real data in the upcoming funding period.

3.7 Proposed thesis topics

The following table presents a list of possible thesis topics that would fit into the research program of the IRTG. Common interest in between the various groups can be clearly identified and will serve as starting point for joint developments. We expect to adjust and/or change priorities during the course of the IRTG depending on the scientific results, achieved.

This list clearly exceeds the funding possibility of the IRTG and may also be filled by some of the contributed Ph.D. students. Candidates will be admitted to the IRTG optimizing the exchange in between the German and Norwegian groups. The long list demonstrates the research topics that will be worked on in the participating groups and thus represent the environment into which the IRTG is embedded. Clearly, all the students working on the listed subjects will benefit from the educational program of the IRTG.

Many of the proposed theses relate to the development of complex subsystems of large-scale experiments carried out by international collaborations. These subsystems will be designed, implemented, and run by larger groups of researchers. Many of them have comparable goals and use comparable, up-to-date technology, so that the PhD students assigned to a certain task will benefit hugely from a cooperation. Below closely related theses are compiled. We plan that the German and Norway PhD students will do part of their work at their home institution and at a guest institution. This will stimulate an intensive cooperation between the involved research groups.

	Title	Main Problem Class	Location
1	ALICE: Analysis (Jets, Charmonia, Open	physics, simulation	HD
	charm)	- • ·	
2	ALICE-HLT: high performance on-line event	tracking	HD/BE
	reconstruction		,
3	ALICE-HLT: on-line calibration, data qual-	calibration	HD/BE
	ity monitoring		,
4	ALICE-TRD: high-pt GTU trigger	VHDL, FPGA	HD
5	ALICE: Analysis of first p+p data	physics	BE
6	ATLAS: Online rate monitoring system for	calibration	HD
	the ATLAS calorimeter trigger		
7	ATLAS: commissioning and calibration of	operation, database	HD
	calorimeter trigger		
8	ATLAS: in-situ calorimeter calibration using	physics, calibration	HD
	multi-jet events		
9	ATLAS: data analysis	physics	OS
10	ATLAS: Test of 3-dim. Si-Pixel for upgrade	sensors, electronics	BE/OS
11	LHCb: Track reconstruction in the high-rate	calibration, monitor-	HD
	environment	ing	
12	LHCb: Search for New Physics in rare B	physics, simulation	HD
	decays: Measurement of CP asymmetries in		
	penguin suppressed B_s decays		
13	CBM: CBM - xyter front end chip	Electronics	HD
14	CBM: development of multistrip multigap	electronics, readout	HD
	RPC (MMRPC)	,	
15	CBM: event building network	FPGA, computing	HD
16	CBM: 3D integration techniques for Si-pixel	sensors, readout	BE/OS
	readout		,
17	ILC: Development of front-end electronics for	detector, readout	HD
	the SiPM readout of the hadron calorimeter		
18	ILC: Test beam measurements with the	detector	HD
	CALICE HCAL prototype		
19	ILC: Test system for packaged sensor and in-	sensor, electronics	HD
	tegrated sensor-scintillator systems		
20	SiPM readout for HCAL(ILC) and PSD	electronics, detectors	BE/OS
	(CBM)		,
21	Distributed control systems	VHDL, FPGA	HD
22	Autonomous computing, GRID computing	computing	HD

Table 3.2: Table of thesis projects

Chapter 4

Study Program

Participants of the IRTG are expected to actively participate in the study program. This program should allow students to:

- Deepen their knowledge in their area of research concerning the basic physics questions and instrumentation, and to bridge the gap to actual research work
- Gain expert knowledge in key technologies, while making best use of the expertise available at the German and Norwegian institutions.
- Present their results and exchange their knowledge with other students in seminars and study weeks
- Make contact with the best experts from all over the world and learn from them in topical workshops organized by the graduate school.
- Get the opportunity to participate in research work at other places in the framework of the exchange program.

In accord with the experience obtained so far from running the IRTG the doctoral education in Heidelberg was modified and new regulations have been set up with the installation of the Heidelberg Graduate School for Fundamental Physics (HGFSP). Those rules are planned to be applied to all Heidelberg physics students in the near future. The most important regulations are:

- Besides their main advisor students will be assigned two co-advisers to monitor the progress.
- The advisory committee will define together with the student general educational modules offered by the HGFSP and also suggest conferences and workshops that should be attended during the PhD study.

The course work can be fulfilled by attending the Heidelberg Graduate Days that was established as a well received tool for graduate student education.

• The students are requested to spend a total of 16 SWS (semester periods per week) on general physics education. Of those 8 SWS can be covered by group meetings and colloquia, and 8 SWS have to be of more general nature like the participation in the Heidelberg Graduate Days or in the IRTG schools or Journal Clubs.

In order to allow for sufficient time for doing research the IRTG does not plan to install more formal lectures nor further requirements. To enhance the scientific level of knowledge we will offer additional seminars and workshops/school focusing on specific subjects. This concept was successfully tested during the present running period of the IRTG and will be refined (see section 4.4).

Therefore the study program of the IRTG will have the following components:

- General lectures will be offered in the context of the Heidelberg Graduate Days organized by the HGFSP. This teaching concept for graduate students was developed within the IRTG and its predecessors and will be further supported by the IRTG.
- In continuation of the current activities schools and lecture weeks on specialized subjects is being organized on a bi-annual basis.
- Topical workshops are organized by the IRTG management (if possible in conjunction or in temporal vicinity to conferences).
- A bi-weekly IRTG seminar is held with topics chosen by the students obeying the general requirements formulated in sections 4.4 and 4.7.2.

Norwegian students are invited to participate to the program points 1 - 3 for short visits, and are participating to point 4 while they are staying for some longer time in Heidelberg. Note that we don't request any more that students have to spend a minimum amount of time in the partner institutions.

4.1 Regular advanced lectures

. The members of the IRTG will participate for a minimum of four semesters in general advanced lectures offered in Heidelberg and Bergen, which will cover Basic Physics, Experimental Techniques and the Informatics Aspects. Advanced lectures will included the following subjects:

- Experimental probes of fundamental interactions
- Standard model of particle physics
- Observing the big bang
- Cosmology
- Particle detectors
- Relativistic heavy ion physics
- (Micro) Electronics
- High performance computing

These lectures are fully integrated into the teaching activities of the faculties and the time spent is fully accountable as part of the teaching duties ('Lehrdeputat'). In order to profit maximally from the available expertise and preparation, we also plan to offer these courses in Norway if they are scheduled for Heidelberg and vice versa. Accordingly, the lecturers of the desired courses will be invited to give a compact course at the partner institutions.

Most of these activities will be included into the "Heidelberg Graduate Days" that were established as a very efficient way of graduate student education.

4.2 Exchange program

An integral part of the study program is an exchange program for students between the partner institutions. A strong motivation for this is of course the stimulation of international exchange and of common projects. It must be stressed however that such a program can only be successful if the visits to the partner institutions are strongly coupled to the thesis work of the students. This is naturally the case if they work in common research projects. Students applying for the IRTG will be preferably admitted with topics that help to extend the international collaboration between the participating groups.

The existing and future projects as described in the research chapter are ideal candidates here, as their timelines extend for more than a decade into the future.

The exchange program will be based on two concepts:

• Sharing common lecture in the context of the regular events.

• Long term stays for individual students on a project basis:

Typical examples of projects are:

- participation at beam tests of subdetectors and data evaluation
- testing of common readout chains together with detectors where several institutions have delivered components.
- getting familiar with Grid-Computing for simulation or analysis

4.3 IRTG workshops and schools

IRTG workshops and schools address subjects that are specific to the profile of the IRTG. They are meant to deepen the knowledge in the interdisciplinary field that the IRTG is covering. As described in the Intermediate Report the most successful events were those with a direct involvement of the students and their interaction in common projects and small mixed groups. It is planned to further develop this concept by

- 'coached' lectures, e.g. the students are asked to seek and present answers to priorly defined questions from common advanced lectures,
- project oriented lab tasks addressing detector technologies,
- project oriented design tasks for FPGAs and ASICs.

In general the students have to present the results of their group work at the end of a 3 - 5 day workshop, exercising at the same time their 'hard' and 'soft' skills.

The table below gives an overview of both the planned lecture weeks and schools for the next two years of the IRTG. The tentative organizers are listed as well:

Year	Type	Place	Topic	Organizers
2008 Spring	Lecture	Heidelberg	LHC physics	Uwer
2008 Fall	School	Bergen	detector calibration	Eigen
2009 Spring	School	Heidelberg	fast event selection	Schultz-Coulon
2009 Fall	Workshop	Heidelberg	LHC - first results	Stachel
2010 Spring	Workshop	Oslo	First HI-results from LHC	Tveter

Table 4.1: Planned workshops and schools

4.4 Bi-weekly Seminars

This seminar represents the core of the local IRTG operation. Participation is mandatory for all students. The seminar serves several goals:

- Students train their presentations and discussion skills by reporting on
 - progress in their own work,
 - latest development in their field (Journal Club like),
 - topics on general interest.
- One status report is expected from each member of the IRTG once per year.
- External speakers (including e.g. postdocs from the participating groups) are invited to broaden the scientific scope represented by the IRTG members themselves. The external speakers are selected according to the demands or suggestions of the students. It is planned to shift more responsibilities for the selection and organization process to the student members of the IRTG in order to also develop their organizational skills.
- The seminar represents a regular date that stimulates mutual interactions and exchanges among the participants that is vital for the success of the IRTG.

The seminar is open to all members of the IRTG and to non-member students in the participating groups.

4.5 Soft skill seminars

Soft skill seminars will be offered in close collaboration with the HGFSP and the Graduate Academy of the Heidelberg University (see:

http://graduateacademy.uni-heidelberg.de). The Graduate Academy regularly offers courses on e.g. Communication Skills, Project Management, Presentation, Academic Writing, etc.. The workshop and training program of the WS 07/08 term can be found at:

http://graduateacademy.uni-heidelberg.de/workshops.html.

(The program of SS07 is attached to the report).

The HGFSP will coordinate the course program in close contact with the Graduate Academy and ensure that the typical subjects are covered. If required additional courses not offered by the Graduate Academy will be organized through the HGSFP. All members of the IRTG including the Norwegian ones are eligible for participation in these courses.

4.6 Post doc position

To efficiently implement the teaching activities, i.e. to organize the lecture weeks, the travels and the bi-weekly seminar, a post-doc is absolutely necessary. In addition the students are offered the possibility to get help by a more experienced person also on scientific questions. As experience has shown this offer to discuss more general questions with an independent person on the sub-advisor level is well received. In order to match the needs of the IRTG, candidates for this position have to possess the following profile:

- Pursue research in one of the fields of the IRTG, preferably with connections into others, and at the forefront of technological developments.
- Have good interdisciplinary knowledge of physics and computer science to fertilize the discussion.
- Have good communication skills to serve as an 'attractor' for the heterogeneous group of students co-working in the IRTG.
- Have organizational skills to help running the schools and the exchange program.

In order to find suitable candidates funding is requested for a full TVL-13 position. This is the standard level of salary for postdocs in the participating groups - and also adequate for the responsibilities attached to the IRTG position.

4.7 Procedural details

The IRTG fits without any special effort into the graduate programs of the German and Norwegian universities. The standard rules for acceptance criteria are valid.

4.7.1 Admission to the IRTG

In order to maintain the high standard that the current activities in the field have reached in the various participating groups, the positions available from the IRTG are announced worldwide. Candidates are selected by the admission commission on the basis of the achievements of the diploma exams the originality and quality of the diploma project and an oral presentation of the candidate about the diploma project (or equivalent). This concept was exercised so far and found to be useful to find candidates that show the necessary skills for the interdisciplinary work between experimental physics, engineering and informatics. This selection is not necessarily always coinciding with the best grades in the often theoretically oriented diploma exams. Therefore interesting candidates that can demonstrate from some project work innovative and creative ideas are given the chance to present themselves in front of the admission commission and up to now some of those candidates were very successful.

4.7.2 Supervision and Performance evaluation

All the graduate students participating in the IRTG have their thesis advisors at their home institutes. Thus a day-by-day interaction is guaranteed providing the most efficient monitoring of the progress of the thesis project. On the Heidelberg side each student will be assigned two co-advisors. For the IRTG students one of them will be picked from our partner universities in Bergen or Oslo.

For long-term visits at the partner institution a specific mentor (faculty member of the host institution) will be assigned for each student serving as contact for any problem that might arise during those stays. This mentor will keep track of the project work that the student is pursuing and will help to integrate the foreign students into the social activities of the hosting group. The students will report regularly on the progress of their work in the biweekly seminar that is part of the IRTG. Due to the interdisciplinary character of the IRTG, special efforts will be made so that all the students can follow the presentations and that the subjects are discussed in depth. Besides the internal IRTG seminar, all projects are embedded into large international collaborations, providing numerous opportunities for status reports at workgroup and collaboration meetings. At the later stage of their work the participants will present their achievements at international conferences by poster presentations or talks. For the students the interaction with the full international community is of special importance to acquire visibility to the outside world and to get into contact with other projects that might be of importance for their future careers. The IRTG will support the participation of each participating student in at least one major conference in the last 2 years of her/his thesis work.

4.7.3 Doctoral degree

The final performance control is the acceptance of the doctoral thesis and the successful oral defense of the thesis according to the local rules of the participating institutions. As done up to now the doctoral degrees will be issued by the parent institution in which the student is enrolled, according to the local rules.

The IRTG still is willing to support the mobility of the students although the experience on this point is rather disappointing. At this point we expect a strong shift towards stays at CERN in order to participate and prepare first data taking. This process has already begun and many ITRG members meet more frequently at CERN than at the appropriate partner institution. Students will be encouraged to continue their work at any partner institution, including CERN, e.g. if some interesting development happened during the project work phase. This exchange has and will continue to broaden the scope of activity and experience of the students while working on their thesis project. Joint thesis projects are possible by admitting the mentor of the student into the examination commission at the university that is awarding the degree.

Chapter 5

Visiting scientist program

In continuation of the current practice we plan to continue with the invitation of experts on various fields of physics, detector design, readout electronics and compute infrastructure to the different activities of the IRTG, e.g. seminars, schools and workshops, according to the needs of the participants of the IRTG. This includes speakers for the Heidelberg Graduate Days (Heidelberger Graduiertentage) that are supplying the core knowledge listed in section 4.1.

We plan to extend the frequency of invitations to external speakers by direct involvement of the students. Students taking actively part in the invitation process, suggesting subjects and speakers, will be granted a free common dinner with the invited speaker. By this we hope to encourage students to play a more active role in the specific weekly seminar program.

The duration of the schools is typically 4 days, work shops last 3 days and seminars are done on a daily basis.

Chapter 6

Organizational Structure

The IRTG organization remains as sketched below, emphasizing the binational nature. The body of the IRTG is the IRTG board, which includes all participating faculty members and two students from each country, which are elected by the participating students by simple majority. The IRTG board meets twice a year during a lecture week or school.



Figure 6.1: Organizational Structure

The term of a spokesperson is two years. The current spokespersons are Prof. Dr. Norbert Herrmann for Germany and Prof. Dr. Dieter Röhrich for Norway. The two national spokespersons are elected by all members the IRTG board. The schools and lecture weeks (see section 4) are organized by the IRTG program committee with the membership of the spokespersons (ex officio) plus one elected national member.

Admission to the IRTG is performed nationally by the two national admission committees. In order to ensure coherence within the IRTG both spokespersons are ex officio members of both admission committees.

The responsibility for the proper organization of the biweekly local seminars is rotating on a semester basis among the local professors. It is the responsibility of the national spokesperson to ensure proper execution of the program.
Chapter 7

Infrastructure

7.1 Affiliation with (inter)national research projects

The research to be performed as part of the IRTG is closely related to the major current and new activities in experimental elementary particle and nuclear physics in Europe and USA. The participating groups are involved into running experiments at RHIC (BNL), SPS (CERN), BABAR (SLAC) and SIS (GSI). They contribute major parts to the preparation and execution of upcoming LHC experiments at CERN: ALICE, ATLAS and LHCb. The IRTG students of this proposed extension will have the unique opportunity to participate in the first data taking of the world largest accelerator infrastructure.

Significant contributions to the future FAIR facility at GSI and especially to the design of the Compressed Baryonic Matter experiment (CBM) are planned and expected by the CBM collaboration. This is manifested in the participation to several Joint Research Activities as part of the I3HP initiative within the sixth and seventh framework program of the EU. On a similar level the ILC activities are part of the seventh framework program of the EU.

7.2 Available infrastructure at German institutes

7.2.1 Scientific personal

The available infrastructures to the IRTG are the same as described for the original proposal except for two items:

- 1. The Technical Informatics of Mannheim was moved from Mannheim University to the ZITI ("Zentrales Institut für Technische Informatik") at Heidelberg. The infrastructural resources are currently integrated into the ASIC laboratory of Heidelberg University.
- 2. The Physikalische Institut of Heidelberg will get a new building on the Campus (Neuenheimer Feld) in direct vicinity to the Kirchhoff Institut. Direct communication among the various groups participating in the IRTG will be significantly enhanced when living essentially under the same roof. Ground breaking for the new building is expected for 2010.

The following table gives a summary of the scientific personal that is available to the Heidelberg groups participating in the IRTG:

	Physikalisches Institut	Kirchhoff Institut
C4	2	2
C3	2	2
C1	2	1
TVL	6	6

7.2.2 Technical Personal

Technical personnel is available to the different groups on a project basis from centralized and commonly used workshops. The following table gives the approximate number of people available to the groups participating in the IRTG:

	Physikalisches Institut	Kirchhoff Institut
Electronics	8	12
Mechanics	20	8

7.2.3 ASIC Laboratory at Heidelberg University

Microelectronics is one essential building block for the development and integration of intelligent detectors. The only way to combine low noise, low power, possibly radiation hard, low cost and intelligent signal processing and acquisition systems is by virtue of developing highly advanced integrated microelectronic devices. Therefore, foreseeing this trend, the ASIC Laboratory Heidelberg was founded in 1994 as a joint facility of the Institute for High Energy Physics and the Physics Institute of Heidelberg University together with the MaxPlanck-Institute for Nuclear Physics. Later the Institute for Applied Physics of Heidelberg University joined the lab and subsequently merged with the Institute for High Energy Physics into the present Kirchhoff-Institute for Physics (KIP), which hosts the ASIC lab on its site ¹.

The positive evolution of the Lab is also well represented by the personnel employed: Starting with 6 people in 1994, the head-count has grown to more than 30 scientists 2008.

7.3 Available infrastructure at Norwegian institutes

7.3.1 Scientific personal

The following table gives a summary of the scientific personal that is available to the groups participating in the IRTG:

UiBUiOHiBProfessor541Assoc. Professor1--

7.3.2 Technical Personal

Technical personnel are available to the different groups on a project basis from centralized and commonly used workshops. The following table gives the approximate number of people available to the groups participating in the IRTG:

	UiB	UiO	HiB
Electronics	4	2	-
Mechanics	2	2	-

7.3.3 Office and laboratory space

The participating groups are equipped with sufficient office and laboratory space to host the graduate students and their activities. The offices are

¹For details refer to http://www.asic.kip.uni-heidelberg.de

equipped with workstations with appropriate compute power and network links.

7.3.4 Laboratories at UiB

The cleanroom Class 10000 cleanroom equipped with a semi-automatic probe station for inspecting and probing microstrip detectors. This includes GPIB operated stepper motors, powersupplies, current and capacitance meters, switching unit. Furthermore, a VME based data-aquisition system for powering and reading out signals from the front-end electronics of silicon detector modules.

The detector laboratories Laboratory for detector development: HVpower supplies, CAMAC-, VME- and PCI-based data acquisition systems, measurement equipment, electronics design tools, electronics prototype production facility.

The microelectronics laboratory The microelectronics lab was established in 1988 in as a result of the increasing demand for advanced electronics in space physics instrumentation. Its main purpose is to serve as an environment for education and research in microelectronics related to experimental physics. The activity is focused on embedded sensor electronics, ranging from analogue amplifier and shaper design to digital control and support circuits. Both full custom ASIC design and high level language design of FPGAs is supported. The microelectronics laboratory is a member of Europractice, which makes available a wide range of leading edge IC, FPGA, Electronics Systems, and Microsystems design tools, plus Intellectual Property Blocks (IP). It is equipped with HP and Sun workstations and PCs running Windows and Linux. A number of instruments are available in the lab, and at the Department of Physics, including a Vanguard Networked PCI-X/PCI Bus Analyzer and Exerciser and mixed signal oscilloscopes.

7.3.5 Laboratories at UiO

The Oslo Cyclotron Laboratory (OCL) The Oslo Cyclotron Laboratory (OCL) was established in 1978, and is based on a Scanditronix MC35 cyclotron. This multi-purpose machine can produce beams of protons, deuterons, 3He and alpha, with energies ranging from 5 to 45 MeV, and intensities from around 10 pA to 100 μ A. The accelerator is thus far more versatile than many specialized ones found elsewhere.

Current projects at the OCL include, but are not limited to:

- Study of the structure of thermally excited nuclei at low spin.
- Production of radionuclides (18F, 211At) for medical purposes.
- Radiation hardness tests of electronic components being evaluated for possible use with the ALICE detector.

Apart from the cyclotron itself, power-supplies and beam-lines, the laboratory infrastructure comprises specialized detectors, advanced data-acquisition electronics and computer equipment. VME based front-end processors plus Sun workstations and PC's running Linux are used. Many of the technical solutions, mechanics, electronics and software, have been developed locally.

Research group laboratories The research groups for electronics, particle physics and nuclear physics operate laboratories for the design and construction of experimental specific detector and data processing electronics. A wide range of CAD tools for electronic design is available. The groups can also acquire development tools distributed through the membership of the University of Oslo in the Europractice organization. The laboratories feature a wide range of test and measurement equipment, software packages, and Real-Time development systems.

A common electronics laboratory offers central facilities for surface mounted circuit technology etc. For ASIC development there is collaboration with SINTEF and the Institute of Informatics.

The cleanroom A cleanroom for silicon module assembly is equipped with high precision assembly tables, including test facilities for silicon modules.

Norwegian Microtechnology Centre The new Norwegian Microtechnology Centre (NMC) is part of a national programme on micro-technology. NMC is a joint laboratory operated by the research organization SINTEF, the University of Oslo, and industry. The construction has been partly financed by the Norwegian Research Council. The Centre is located on the Oslo University campus.

NMCs core competence is the development of micro-components and complete instrumentation systems based on microcomponents. The laboratory is equipped with a processing line for 3" wafers. The research will include ASICs, micro-system manufacturing, MEMS, packaging technology, photonics and radiation detector systems. Scientists from SINTEF will collaborate with professors and students of the University of Oslo in order to design and prototype new micro-systems.

Chapter 8

Funding

8.1 Funding (German side)

8.1.1 Scholarships for PhD students

We ask for the support of 12 students for the German groups participating in the IRTG. In order to be able to attract the most active and capable students we have to offer an increased salary for the interdisciplinary work profile. It should be noted that PhD student in informatics and electrical engineering typically enjoy full TVL-13 positions. In order to be at least partially competitive we request for each student the increased stipends. Subtotal for 4.5 years:

Base amount	$4,5 \ge 12 \ge 12 \ge 1.365$ €	= 888.452 €				
Additional support	4,5 x 12 x 12 x 103 €	= 66.744 €				
Family support	4,5 x 12 x 2 x 205 €	= 22.140 €				
(for an average of 20% of all students)						
Sum		977.336 €				

8.1.2 Postdoc position

The postdoc position is necessary to maintain the coherence of the program and to organize the communication and exchanges, and setting up the schools for making use of the most advanced design and analysis tools available today. The scientific work also represents a focusing element were all students can participate. The duties connected to the postdoc positions are detailed in section 4.6.

Postdocs in all the participating groups are payed according to TVL-13 In order not to discriminate among people on the same level of experience and

education, and to be able to motivate people to join into the educational activities of the IRTG, we ask for a positions according to the TVL tariff. Subtotal for 4.5 years:

Estimate 4,5 x 50.000 $\in=$ 225.000 \in

8.1.3 Joint activities

Two joint lecture weeks/schools will be organized each year, one being internal to the IRTG participants the other one being a school that is open to the public. The location will alter in between Germany and Norway.

We base our funding estimate on the assumption that all the participants of the IRTG will participate in the internal lecture week or workshop.

4.5 x (6 students + 1 Postdoc + 3 faculty) x (350 €+ 5x100 €) = 38.250€ A flight from Frankfurt to Bergen costs 350€, the estimate for housing and food is 100 /Euro/day (120 for Norway)

8.1.4 Travel of students and postdoc

We anticipate that many of the students will be have to be present during data taking at CERN and have to participate in collaboration meetings. To motivate a number we calculate the cost for each student to spend 2 weeks at CERN per year.

 $4.5 \ge 13 \ge 2 \ge 1000 \in = 120.000 \in .$

8.1.5 Participation in international conferences

Each student and the postdoc is given the chance to present her/his results on an international conference twice.

 $2 \ge 13 \ge 1.500 \in = 39.000 \in$.

8.1.6 Mobility costs

The cost for long term exchanges of students is divided among the participating institution in the following way: The travel expenses are supplied by the home institute of the student while the local expenses are covered by the host institutes.

1. Travel money for German students to Norway

Estimated from the past some (≈ 4) participating students will visit the partner university once per year.

We therefore ask for

4.5 x 4 x 350 €: 6000 €.

2. We anticipate on average about 2 visits of Norwegian students for project work in Heidelberg. The cost is estimated to $400 \in /\text{month/person}$.

Therefore we ask:

4.5 x 2 x 400 €: 4.000 €.

8.1.7 Support for visiting scientists

External lecturers and speakers are invited to workshops and seminars. The cost for the invitation of an external lecturer is estimated to $2000 \in$ per 4-day course, $1000 \in$ for short term visit.

We therefore ask for a total of $30.000 \in$.

8.1.8 Soft skill seminars

As contribution to the organization of the soft skill seminars we request a total of 5.000 \in .

8.1.9 Coordination cost

Based on the experience up to now we ask for $5.000 \in$.

8.1.10 Total Sum

The total requests amounts to $1.449.586 \in$.

8.2 Funding (Norwegian side)

The available funding on the Norwegian side is detailed below: Total costs: Stipends: 17948 kNOK Running costs: (757 kNOK per year) 3408 kNOK Cost sharing: UiB: 3 stipends + 1500 kNOK HiB: 1 stipend + 308 kNOK UiO: 3 stipends + 1600 kNOK

8.2.1 Scholarships for PhD students

We ask for the support of 7 students for the Norwegian groups participating in the IRTG; 3 stipends from UiB, 3 from UiO and 1 from HiB: UiB: 3 * 4 years = 3 * 4 * 641 kNOK = 3 * 2564 kNOK = 7692 kNOK UiO: 3 * 4 years = 3 * 4 * 641 kNOK = 3 * 2564 kNOK = 7692 kNOK HiB: 1 * 4 years = 1 * 4 * 641 kNOK = 1 * 2564 kNOK = 2564 kNOK Sum: 17948 kNOK

8.2.2 Postdoc positions

None.

8.2.3 Joint activities

Two joint lecture weeks/schools will be organized each year, one event internal to the IRTG participants, the other one will be open to the public. The location will alternate between Germany and Norway. We base our funding estimate on the assumption that most of the participants of the IRTG will participate in the mandatory internal 5 day lecture week or workshop: 4.5 x (7 students + 11 faculty) x (3000 NOK + 5x(1250+730) NOK) = 1045 kNOK

The cost for the invitation of an external lecture is estimated to 15000 NOK per 4 day course. We therefore ask for $4.5 \ge 1 \ge 15000$ NOK = 67 kNOK

8.2.4 Mobility costs

The cost for long term exchanges of students is divided among the participating institution in the following way: The travel expenses are supplied by the home institute of the student while the local expenses are covered by the host institute.

i) Travel money for Norwegian students to Germany Typically half of the participating students will visit the partner university once per year. We therefore ask for

 $4.5 \ge 2 \ge 3000$ NOK = 27 kNOK

ii) We expect visits of German students to the advanced courses and project work in Bergen/Oslo. The cost is estimated to 10000 NOK/month/person. On average about 4 German students will spent about 1 months in Norway: $4.5 \ge 4 \ge 10000$ NOK = $180 \ge 1000$ NOK

iii) We anticipate that many of the students have to be present at CERN during data taking. We assume that each student spends three weeks per

year at CERN: $4.5 \ge 7 \ge (4000 + 21 \ge (1400 + 650)) = 1482 \ge NOK$

8.2.5 Support for visiting scientists

External experts will be invited to the bi-weekly local seminars according to the needs of the project and the students. This will happen about 2 times/year. The total cost amounts to $4.5 \ge 2 \ge 10000$ NOK = 90 kNOK.

8.2.6 Participation at international conferences

The students have to be given the chance to present their achievements and themselves at international conferences. We ask for the support of the visit of one major conference per year. The necessary total amount is $4.5 \ge 7 \ge 15000$ NOK = $472 \ge 0.000$ NOK.

8.2.7 Soft skill seminars

None (taken care of by the German partners).

8.2.8 Coordination cost

Specific costs will occur for the organization of the public schools for advertising and secretarial help for the organization. The necessary amount is estimated to

 $4.5 \ge 10000 \text{ NOK} = 45 \ge 10000 \text{ NOK}$

Chapter 9

Publications

The publications listed for completeness below are identical to the ones listed in the intermediate report.

Bibliography

Group J. Stachel

- D. Adamova et al., CERES Collaboration, Beam Energy and Centrality Dependence of Two-Pion Bose-Einstein Correlations at SPS Energies, Nucl. Phys. A714 (2003) 124.
- [2] S. Damjanovic for the CERES Collaboration, Low-mass dilepton pair production in Pb-Au Collisions at 40 A GeV, Pramana J. of Phys. 60 2003) 1067.
- [3] D. Adamova et al., CERES Collaboration, Universal Pion Freeze-out in Heavy Ion Collisions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 90 (2003) 022301.
- [4] D. Adamova et al., CERES Collaboration, Enhanced production of low mass electron pairs in 40 A GeV Pb-Au, Phys. Rev. Lett. 91 (2003) 042301, nucl-ex/0209024
- [5] A. Andronic et al., the ALICE TRD Collaboration, Pulse height measurements and electron attachment in drift chambers operated with Xe,CO2 mixtures, Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A498 (2003) 143.
- [6] A. Andronic, P. Braun-Munzinger, K. Redlich, J. Stachel, Statistical hadronization of charm at SPS, RHIC and LHC, Proc. Quark Matter 2002, Nucl. Phys. A715 (2003) 529c, nucl-th/0209035.
- [7] H. Tilsner, H. Appelshäuser for the CERES Collaboration, Two-Pion Bose-Einstein Correlations at SPS Energies, Proc. Quark Matter 2002, Nucl. Phys. A715 (2003) 607c.
- [8] J. Slivova for the CERES Collaboration, Flow and non-flow event anisotropies at the SPS, Proc. Quark Matter 2002, Nucl. Phys. A715 (2003) 615c, nucl-ex/0212013.

- [9] J.P. Wessels for the CERES Collaboration, Latest Results from CERES/NA45, Proc. Quark Matter 2002, Nucl. Phys. A715 (2003) 262c.
- [10] L. Musa for the ALICE Collaboration, The Time Projection Chamber for the ALICE Experiment, Proc. Quark Matter 2002, Nucl. Phys. A715 (2003) 843.
- [11] T. Mahmoud for the ALICE TRD Collaboration, The ALICE transition radiation detector, Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A502 (2003) 127.
- [12] H. Sako for the CERES collaboration, hadron correlations and fluctuations in 40, 80, and 158 A GeV/c Pb-Au collisions, Proc. XXXVIIIth Rencontres de Moriond, QCD and High Energy Hadronic Interactions, Les Arcs, France, March 2003, nucl-ex/0305011.
- P. Braun-Munzinger, K. Redlich, J. Stachel, Particle Production in Heavy Ion Collisions, Invited review for Quark Gluon Plasma 3, eds.
 R. C. Hwa and Xin-Nian Wang (World Scientific Publishing) 491, nucl-th/0304013.
- [14] A.Andronic, P.Braun-Munzinger, K.Redlich, J.Stachel, Statistical hadronization of charm in heavy-ion collisions at SPS, RHIC and LHC, sub. Phys. Lett. B571 (2003) 36, nucl-th/0303036.
- [15] J.P. Wessels for the ALICE TRD Collaboration, The ALICE Transition Radiation Detector, Proc. 8th International Conference on Advanced Technology and Particle Physics (ICATPP 2003), Como, Italy, Oct 2003. Published in *Como 2003, Astroparticle, particles and space physics, detectors and medical physics applications* p517.
- [16] D. Adamova et al., CERES collaboration, Event-by-event fluctuations of the mean tranverse momentum in 40, 80, 158 A GeV/c Pb -Au collisions, Nucl. Phys. A727 (2003) 97, nucl-ex/0305002.
- [17] J. Baechler et al., the ALICE TPC Collaboration, The ALICE Time Projection Chamber: a Technological Challenge in the LHC heavy ion physics, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A518 (2004) 94.
- [18] A. Andronic for the Alice collaboration, Energy loss of pions and electrons of 1 to 6 GeV/c in drift chambers operated with Xe,CO₂ (15%), Nucl. Instr. Meth. A519 (2004) 508-517, physics/0310122.

- [19] J. Bielcikova, S. Esumi, K. Filimonov, S. Voloshin, J.P. Wurm Elliptic flow contribution to two particle correlations at different orientations to the reaction plane, Phys. Rev. C69 (2004) 021901(R), nucl-ex/0311007.
- [20] H. Appelshäuser for the CERES Collaboration, Event-by-event fluctuations of the mean transverse momentum at SPS energies, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 53 (2004) 253.
- [21] G. Agakichiev et al., CERES collaboration, Semi-hard scattering unraveled from collective dynamics by two-pion correlations in 158 A GeV/c Pb + Au collisions, Phys. Rev. Lett. **92** (2004) 032301, nuclex/0303014.
- [22] J.P. Wurm and J. Bielcikova for the CERES Collaboration, Elliptic flow and semi-hard scattering at SPS, Proc. XXXIX Recontres de Moriond, QCD and High Energy Hadronic Interactions, La Thuile, Italy, 2004.
- [23] A. Andronic for the ALICE TRD collaboration, Electron identification performance with ALICE TRD prototypes, Nucl. Instr. Meth. A522 (2004) 40, physics/0402131.
- [24] O. Busch for the ALICE TRD collaboration, Transition Radiation Spectroscopy with Prototypes of the ALICE TRD, Nucl. Instr. Meth. A522 (2004) 45, physics/0404106.
- [25] P. Braun-Munzinger, J. Stachel, C. Wetterich, Chemical Freeze-out and the QCD Phase Transition Temperature, Phys. Lett. B596 (2004) 61, nucl-th/0311005.
- [26] O. Busch for the ALICE TRD collaboration, Results from prototype tests for the ALICE TRD, Nucl. Instr. Meth. A525 (2004) 153.
- [27] A. Andronic et al., ALICE TRD collaboration, Space charge in drift chambers operated with the Xe,CO₂ (15%) gas mixture, Nucl. Instr. Meth. A525 (2004) 447-457; physics/0402043.
- [28] H. Sako and H. Appelshäuser for the CERES Collaboration Eventby-event fluctuations in 40, 80, and 158 A GeV/c Pb+Au collisions, Proc. Quark Matter 04, J. Phys. G30 (2004) S1371, nuclex/0403037.

- [29] A. Marin for the CERES Collaboration, New results from CERES, Proc. Quark Matter 04, J. Phys. G30 (2004) S709, nucl-ex/0406007.
- [30] P. Glässel for the ALICE TPC Collaboration, The ALICE TPC an innovative device for heavy-ion collisions at the LHC Quark Matter 04, J. Phys. G30 (2004) S1083.
- [31] C. Lippmann for the ALICE TRD collaboration, Position resolution and electron identification with prototypes of the ALICE TRD, Nucl. Instr. Meth. A535 (2004) 457.
- [32] C. Garabatos for the ALICE collaboration, The ALICE TPC, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A535 (2004) 197, 2004.
- [33] F. Carminati et al., ALICE Collaboration, ALICE: Physics Performance Report, Vol.1, J. Phys. G30 (2004) 1515.
- [34] J. Mercado for the ALICE TRD Collaboration, The ALICE transition radiation detector readout electronics, Proc. SUSSP58, St. Andrews Scotland 2004, (Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton, 2006) 247.
- [35] H. Appelshäuser and H. Sako for the CERES Collaboration, Eventby-event fluctuations at the SPS, Proc. Int. Nucl. Phys. Conf., Göteborg, Sweden, 2004, Nucl. Phys. A752 (2005) 394c, nuclex/0409022.
- [36] J. Bielcikowa for the CERES Collaboration, semihard scattering unraveled from collective dynamics at $\sqrt{s} = 17$ GeV, J. Phys. **G31** (2005) S465, nucl-ex/0412047.
- [37] A. Marin for the CERES Collaboration, New Results from CERES, J. Phys. G31 (2005) S1175.
- [38] S. Yurevich for the CERES Collaboration, Latest results on e⁺e⁻ pair production in CERES, Nucl. Phys. A749 (2005) 160c.
- [39] C. Adler et al., ALICE TRD collaboration, Position reconstruction in drift chambers operated with Xe/CO₂ (15%), Nucl. Instr. Meth. A540 (2005) 140,physics/0511233.
- [40] G. Agakichiev et al., CERES Collaboration, e⁺e⁻ pair production in Pb - Au collisions at 158 GeV per nucleon, Eur. Phys. J. C41 (2005) 475.

- [41] J. Bielcikova et al., CERES Collaboration, Semihard scattering unraveled from collective flow at the SPS, Eur. Phys. J. C43 (2005) 323.
- [42] R. Schicker for the ALICE TRD Collaboration, ALICE: Physics with electrons, Conf. on Physics at LHC, Vienna, Austria, July 2004, Czech. J. Phys. 55 (2005) B375.
- [43] C. Adler for the ALICE TRD Collaboration, Electron Identification with the ALICE TRD, Proc. Hadron Collider Physics 2005, eds. M.Campanelli, A.Clark, X.Wu, (Springer) 201.
- [44] C. Adler et al., ALICE TRD collaboration, Electron/Pion Identification with ALICE TRD Prototypes using a Neural Network Algorithm, Nucl. Instr. Meth. A522 (2005) 364, physics/0506202.
- [45] D. Miskowiec for the CERES Collaboration, Collection of CERES results, Proc. Quarkmatter 2005, Nucl. Phys. A774 (2006) 43c, nuclex/0511010.
- [46] J. Milosevic for the CERES Collaboration, Strange and charged particle elliptic flow in Pb + Au Collisions at 158 A GeV/c, Proc. Quarkmatter 2005, Nucl. Phys. A774 (2006) 503c, nucl-ex/0510057.
- [47] M. Ploskon for the CERES collaboration, Two-particle azimuthal correlations at high transverse momentum in Pb-Au at 158 A GeV/c, Acta Phys. Hung. A27 (2006) 255, nucl-ex/0511043.
- [48] J. Stachel, Experimental Summary, Proc. ICPAQGP conference, Kolkata, India, Feb. 2005, J. Phys. G50 (2006) 293; nuclex/0508025.
- [49] P. Shukla for the ALICE TRD collaboration, Dielectron physics with ALICE Transition Radiation Detector, Proc. ICPAQGP 2005, Kolkata, India, Feb 2005, J. Phys. G50 (2006) 393.
- [50] C. Lippmann for the ALICE TRD collaboration, The ALICE Transition Radiation Detector, Proc. Int. Symposium on Detector Development for Particle, Astroparticle and Synchrotron Radiation Experiments (SNIC 2006), Menlo Park, California, 3-6 Apr 2006, p. 0043.
- [51] J. Stachel, Has the Quark-Gluon Plasma been seen? in 'Lepton and Photon Interactions at High Energies', eds. R. Brenner, C.P. de los Heros, J. Rathsman (World Scientific, Singapore, 2006) p.171 and Int. J. Mod. Phys. A21 (2006) 1750, nucl-ex/0510077.

- [52] A. Andronic et al. for the ALICE collaboration, Transition Radiation Spectra of Electrons from 1 to 10 GeV/c in Regular and Irregular Radiators, Nucl. Instr. Meth. Phys. Res. A558 (2006) 516, physics/0511229.
- [53] A. Andronic, P. Braun–Munzinger, J. Stachel, Hadron production in central nucleus-nucleus collisions at chemical freeze-out, Nucl. Phys. A 772 (2006) 167, nucl-th/0511071.
- [54] R. Bailhache and C. Lippmann for the ALICE TRD collaboration, New test beam results with prototypes of the ALICE TRD, Nucl. Instr. Methods A563 (2006) 310.
- [55] V. Angelov for the ALICE TRD collaboration, Design and Performance of the ALICE TRD Front-End Electronics, Nucl. Instr. Methods A563 (2006) 317.
- [56] A. Wilk for the ALICE TRD collaboration, Analysis of the Electron-Pion Separation Capability with Real Size ALICE TRD Prototypes using a Neural Network Algorithm, Nucl. Instr. Methods A563 (2006) 314.
- [57] D. Adamova et al., CERES collaboration, Leptonic and charged kaon decay modes of the ϕ meson measured in heavy ion collisions at the CERN SPS, Phys. Rev. Lett. **96** (2006) 152301, nucl-ex/0512007.
- [58] K. Zapp, G. Ingelman, J. Rathsman, J. Stachel, Jet Quenching from soft QCD Scattering in the Quark-Gluon Plasma, Phys. Lett. B637 (2006) 179, hep-ph/0512300.
- [59] B. Alessandro et al., ALICE Collaboration, ALICE: Physics Performance Report, Vol.2, CERN/LHCC 2005-030, J. Phys. G32 (2006) 1295-2040.
- [60] J. Milosevic for the CERES collaboration, Strange particle production and elliptic flow from CERES, Proc. Int. Conf. on Strangeness in Quark Matter (SQM2006), J.Phys. G32(2006) S97, nucl-ex/0606020.
- [61] P. Glä ssel for the ALICE TPC Collaboration, The ALICE TPC: An innovative device for heavy ion collisions at LHC, 10th Pisa Meeting on Advanced Detectors: Frontier Detectors for Frontier Physics, La Biodola, Elba, Italy, 21-27 May 2006, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A572 (2007) 64.

- [62] M. Ploskon for the CERES collaboration, Two particle azimuthal correlations at high transverse momentum in Pb-Au at 158-AGeV/c, Proc. 2nd International Conference on Hard and Electromagnetic Probes of High-Energy Nuclear Collisions (Hard Probes 2006), Asilomar, California, 9-16 Jun 2006. Nucl.Phys. A783 (2007) 527, nuclex/0701023.
- [63] K. Oyama for the ALICE Collaboration, Physics with ALICE transition radiation detector, Prepared for Physics at LHC, Cracow, Poland, 3-8 Jul 2006, Acta Phys. Polon. B38 (2007) 1017.
- [64] A. Andronic, P. Braun-Munziner, K. Redlich, J. Stachel, Statistical hadronization of heavy quarks in ultra-relativistic nucleus-nucleus collisions, Nucl. Phys. A789 (2007) 334, nucl-th/0611023.
- [65] D. Adamova et al., CERES collaboration, Modification of the rhomeson detected by low-mass lectron-positron pairs in central Pb-Au collisions at 158 A GeV/c, sub. Phys. Lett. B, nucl-ex/0611022.
- [66] A. Andronic, P. Braun-Munzinger, K. Redlich, J. Stachel, Evidence for charmonium generation at the phase boundary in ultra-relativistic nuclear collisions, Phys. Lett. B652 (2007) 259, nucl-th/0701079.
- [67] D. Antonczyk and D. Miskowiec for the CERES collaboration, Pionpion and pion-proton correlations: New results from CERES, Proc. 2nd Workshop on Particle Correlation and Femtoscopy (WPCF 2006), Sao Paulo, Brazil, 9-11 Sep 2006, Braz. J. Phys. **37** (2007) 979, hep-ph/0702219.
- [68] K. Zapp, G. Ingelman, J. Rathsman, J. Stachel, Heavy quark energy loss through soft QCD scattering in the QGP, Proc. 19th Int. Conf. on Ultra-Relativistic Nucleus-Nucleus Collisions: Quark Matter 2006 (QM2006), Shanghai, China, Nov 2006, J. Phys. G34 (2007), hepph/0702201.
- [69] S. Kniege and M. Ploskon for the CERES Collaboration, Two and three-particle azimuthal correlations of high-p(t) charged hadrons in Pb - Au collisions at 158-A-GeV/c, Proc. 19th International Conference on Ultra-Relativistic Nucleus-Nucleus Collisions: Quark Matter 2006 (QM2006), Shanghai, China, Nov 2006, J. Phys. G34 (2007) S697, nucl-ex/0703008.
- [70] L. Musa for the ALICE TPC collaboration, Commissioning of the ALICE TPC, Proc. 19th International Conference on

Ultra-Relativistic Nucleus-Nucleus Collisions: Quark Matter 2006 (QM2006), Shanghai, China, Nov 2006, J. Phys. **G34** (2007) S705.

- [71] P. Christiansen for the ALICE TPC collaboration, Particle identification studies with an ALICE test TPC, Proc. 19th International Conference on Ultra-Relativistic Nucleus-Nucleus Collisions: Quark Matter 2006 (QM2006), Shanghai, China, Nov 2006, J. Phys. G34 (2007), physics/0703097.
- [72] W. Sommer for the ALICE collaboration, Quarkonia measurements with the central detectors, Proc. 19th International Conference on Ultra-Relativistic Nucleus-Nucleus Collisions: Quark Matter 2006 (QM2006), Shanghai, China, Nov 2006, J. Phys. G34 (2007), nuclex/0702045.
- [73] P. Braun-Munzinger and J. Stachel, The quest for the quark-gluon plasma, Nature 448 (2007) 302.
- [74] A. Andronic, P. Braun-Munzinger, J. Stachel, Thermal model predictions of hadron ratios at LHC, Presented at Workshop on Heavy Ion Collisions at the LHC: Last Call for Predictions, Geneva, Switzerland, 14 May - 8 Jun 2007, arXiv:0707.4076 [nucl-th].
- [75] A. Andronic, P. Braun-Munzinger, K. Redlich, J. Stachel, Statistical hadronization model predictions for charmed hadrons at LHC, Presented at Workshop on Heavy Ion Collisions at the LHC: Last Call for Predictions, Geneva, Switzerland, 14 May - 8 Jun 2007, arXiv:0707.4075 [nucl-th].
- [76] A. Andronic, P. Braun-Munzinger, K. Redlich, J. Stachel, Statistical hadronization of charm quarks in ultra-relativistic nucleus-nucleus collisions, Contrib. 4th Int. Workshop on Critical Point and Onset Deconfinement, Darmstadt, Germany, 9-13 Jul 2007, arXiv:0710.1851 [nucl-th].
- [77] A. Andronic, P. Braun-Munzinger, K. Redlich, J. Stachel, Charmonium and open charm production in nuclear collisions at SPS/FAIR energies and the possible influence of a hot hadronic medium, Phys. Lett. B659 (2008) 149, arXiv:0708.1488 [nucl-th].
- [78] D. Adamova et al., The CERES/NA45 Radial Drift Time Projection Chamber, sub. Nucl. Inst. Methods, Feb. 2008, arXiv:0802.1443v1[nucl-ex].

- [79] K. Aamodt et al., ALICE Collaboration, the ALICE Experiment at the LHC, ALICE technical paper 1, sub. JINST, January 2008.
- [80] S. Domdey, G. Ingelman, H.J. Pirner, J. Rathsman, J. Stachel, K. Zapp, QCD Evolution of Jets in the Quark-Gluon Plasma, sub. Nucl. Phys. A, March 2008, arXiv:0802.3282 [hep-ph].
- [81] D. Adamova et al., CERES collaboration, Scale-dependence of transverse momentum correlations in Pb-Au collisions at 158A GeV/c, sub. Nucl. Phys. A, March 2008, arXiv:0803.2407v1 [nucl-ex].

Group U. Uwer

- [82] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:0710.1371 [hep-ex].
- [83] H. Deppe, U. Stange, U. Trunk and U. Uwer,
- [84] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:0801.0697 [hep-ex].
- [85] B. Aubert *et al.* [BaBar Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 032007 [arXiv:0712.1516 [hep-ex]].
- [86] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:0712.2249 [hep-ex].
- [87] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:0712.3469 [hep-ex].
- [88] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:0712.3493 [hep-ex].
- [89] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:0712.3503 [hep-ex].
- [90] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:0711.0980 [hep-ex].
- [91] B. Aubert *et al.* [BaBar Collaboration], arXiv:0711.2047 [hep-ex].
- [92] B. Aubert et al. [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:0711.2713 [hep-ex].
- [93] B. Aubert *et al.* [BaBar Collaboration], arXiv:0711.4417 [hep-ex].
- [94] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:0711.4889 [hep-ex].
- [95] B. Aubert *et al.* [BaBar Collaboration], arXiv:0710.4451 [hep-ex].
- [96] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 012002 [arXiv:0710.5763 [hep-ex]].

- [97] B. Aubert *et al.* [BaBar Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 031101 [arXiv:0710.5775 [hep-ex]].
- [98] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **100** (2008) 021801 [arXiv:0709.1698 [hep-ex]].
- [99] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 092006 [arXiv:0709.1988 [hep-ex]].
- [100] B. Aubert *et al.* [BaBar Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **100** (2008) 061803 [arXiv:0709.2715 [hep-ex]].
- [101] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:0709.4165 [hep-ex].
- [102] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **99** (2007) 261801 [arXiv:0708.0050 [hep-ex]].
- [103] B. Aubert *et al.* [The BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **76** (2007) 111101 [arXiv:0708.0182 [hep-ex]].
- [104] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **99** (2007) 221801 [arXiv:0708.0376 [hep-ex]].
- [105] B. Aubert *et al.* [The BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008)
 011101 [Erratum-ibid. D 77 (2008 ERRAT, D77, 019904.2008) 039903]
 [arXiv:0708.0963 [hep-ex]].
- [106] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **99** (2007) 201801 [arXiv:0708.1303 [hep-ex]].
- [107] I. Abt et al. [HERA-B Collaboration], Eur. Phys. J. C 52 (2007) 531 [arXiv:0708.1443 [hep-ex]].
- [108] B. Aubert et al. [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:0708.1614 [hep-ex].
- [109] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:0708.1630 [hep-ex].
- [110] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:0708.1534 [hep-ex].
- [111] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **99** (2007)
 231802 [arXiv:0708.1544 [hep-ex]].
- [112] B. Aubert *et al.* [BaBar Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **76** (2007) 111102 [arXiv:0708.1549 [hep-ex]].

- [113] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 011102 [arXiv:0708.1565 [hep-ex]].
- [114] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:0708.1652 [hep-ex].
- [115] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:0708.1738 [hep-ex].
- [116] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:0708.1753 [hep-ex].
- [117] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:0708.2097 [hep-ex].
- [118] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:0708.2248 [hep-ex].
- [119] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 011107 [arXiv:0708.2260 [hep-ex]].
- [120] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **76** (2007) 092005 [arXiv:0708.2461 [hep-ex]].
- [121] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **76** (2007) 071104 [arXiv:0708.2543 [hep-ex]].
- [122] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **99** (2007)
 251803 [arXiv:0708.3650 [hep-ex]].
- [123] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:0708.3702 [hep-ex].
- [124] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:0707.1043 [hep-ex].
- [125] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **76** (2007) 071102 [arXiv:0707.1633 [hep-ex]].
- [126] B. Aubert *et al.* [BaBar Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **76** (2007) 092004 [arXiv:0707.1648 [hep-ex]].
- [127] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:0707.2655 [hep-ex].
- [128] B. Aubert et al. [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:0707.2670 [hep-ex].
- [129] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:0707.2758 [hep-ex].
- [130] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **76** (2007) 091102 [arXiv:0707.2798 [hep-ex]].
- [131] B. Aubert et al. [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:0707.2843 [hep-ex].

- [132] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **76** (2007) 051104 [arXiv:0707.2922 [hep-ex]].
- [133] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 012003 [arXiv:0707.2980 [hep-ex]].
- [134] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **100** (2008)
 011801 [arXiv:0707.2981 [hep-ex]].
- [135] B. Aubert *et al.* [The BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **99** (2007) 241803 [arXiv:0707.4561 [hep-ex]].
- [136] I. Abt et al. [HERA-B Collaboration], Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 582 (2007) 401 [arXiv:0706.0131 [physics.data-an]].
- [137] B. Aubert *et al.* [The BaBar Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **76** (2007) 071103 [arXiv:0706.1059 [hep-ex]].
- [138] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 011104 [arXiv:0706.2870 [hep-ex]].
- [139] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **99** (2007) 161802 [arXiv:0706.3885 [hep-ex]].
- [140] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **76** (2007) 031103 [arXiv:0706.3893 [hep-ex]].
- [141] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **98** (2007) 212001 [arXiv:hep-ex/0610057].
- [142] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **76** (2007) 051103 [arXiv:0705.0398 [hep-ex]].
- [143] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **76** (2007) 014018 [arXiv:0705.0704 [hep-ex]].
- [144] B. Aubert *et al.* [BaBar Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **99** (2007) 071801 [arXiv:0705.1190 [hep-ex]].
- [145] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **76** (2007) 052002 [arXiv:0705.1820 [hep-ex]].
- [146] B. Aubert *et al.* [Babar Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **76** (2007) 052007 [arXiv:0705.2157 [hep-ex]].

- [147] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 032002 [arXiv:0705.4008 [hep-ex]].
- [148] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **76** (2007) 012008 [arXiv:0704.0630 [hep-ex]].
- [149] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **76** (2007) 031102 [arXiv:0704.0522 [hep-ex]].
- [150] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:0704.0020 [hep-ex].
- [151] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **76** (2007) 031101 [arXiv:0704.1266 [hep-ex]].
- [152] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:0704.1478 [hep-ex].
- [153] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **100** (2008)
 051802 [arXiv:0704.2080 [hep-ex]].
- [154] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **76** (2007) 011102 [arXiv:0704.3593 [hep-ex]].
- [155] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **76** (2007) 012004 [arXiv:hep-ex/0703008].
- [156] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **99** (2007) 021603 [arXiv:hep-ex/0703016].
- [157] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **99** (2007) 051801 [arXiv:hep-ex/0703018].
- [158] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **99** (2007) 081801 [arXiv:hep-ex/0703019].
- [159] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **98** (2007) 211802 [arXiv:hep-ex/0703020].
- [160] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **99** (2007) 171803 [arXiv:hep-ex/0703021].
- [161] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **76** (2007) 051101 [arXiv:hep-ex/0703027].
- [162] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **99** (2007) 062001 [arXiv:hep-ex/0703030].

- [163] B. Aubert *et al.* [BaBar Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **99** (2007) 251801 [arXiv:hep-ex/0703037].
- [164] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **75** (2007) 111102 [arXiv:hep-ex/0703038].
- [165] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **76** (2007) 071101 [arXiv:hep-ex/0702010].
- [166] B. Aubert *et al.* [BaBar Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **76** (2007) 011103 [arXiv:hep-ex/0702043].
- [167] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **76** (2007) 091101 [arXiv:hep-ex/0702046].
- [168] H. Albrecht et al. [HERA-B Outer Tracker Group], Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 576 (2007) 312 [arXiv:physics/0701122].
- [169] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **75** (2007) 091103 [arXiv:hep-ex/0701035].
- [170] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **98** (2007) 151802 [arXiv:hep-ex/0612017].
- [171] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **98** (2007) 091801 [arXiv:hep-ex/0612020].
- [172] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **98** (2007) 111801 [arXiv:hep-ex/0612021].
- [173] I. Abt et al. [HERA-B Collaboration], Phys. Lett. B 650 (2007) 103 [arXiv:hep-ex/0612024].
- [174] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **98** (2007) 181803 [arXiv:hep-ex/0612050].
- [175] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 111103 [arXiv:hep-ex/0611028].
- [176] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **98** (2007) 171801 [arXiv:hep-ex/0611030].
- [177] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **75** (2007) 051102 [arXiv:hep-ex/0611037].

- [178] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 091103 [arXiv:hep-ex/0610018].
- [179] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **75** (2007) 031101 [arXiv:hep-ex/0610027].
- [180] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **98** (2007) 061803 [arXiv:hep-ex/0610067].
- [181] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **98** (2007) 051801 [arXiv:hep-ex/0610073].
- [182] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **75** (2007) 012003 [arXiv:hep-ex/0609004].
- [183] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **97** (2006) 261803 [arXiv:hep-ex/0609027].
- [184] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 111102 [arXiv:hep-ex/0609033].
- [185] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **98** (2007) 031801 [arXiv:hep-ex/0609052].
- [186] D. Wiedner et al., Prepared for 12th Workshop on Electronics for LHC and Future Experiments (LECC 2006), Valencia, Spain, 25-29 Sep 2006
- [187] J. Knopf, R. Muckerheide, U. Stange, U. Trunk, U. Uwer and D. Wiedner, Prepared for 12th Workshop on Electronics for LHC and Future Experiments (LECC 2006), Valencia, Spain, 25-29 Sep 2006
- [188] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607103.
- [189] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **75** (2007) 012008 [arXiv:hep-ex/0608003].
- [190] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0608004.
- [191] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **97** (2006) 201802 [arXiv:hep-ex/0608005].
- [192] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **97** (2006) 221803 [arXiv:hep-ex/0608006].

- [193] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 091102 [arXiv:hep-ex/0608009].
- [194] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 091101 [arXiv:hep-ex/0608016].
- [195] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0608019.
- [196] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **97** (2006) 171805 [arXiv:hep-ex/0608036].
- [197] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **98** (2007) 051803 [arXiv:hep-ex/0608051].
- [198] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **97** (2006) 232001 [arXiv:hep-ex/0608055].
- [199] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607037.
- [200] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 051101 [arXiv:hep-ex/0607039].
- [201] B. Aubert et al. [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607040.
- [202] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607043.
- [203] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **75** (2007) 031103 [arXiv:hep-ex/0607044].
- [204] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607045.
- [205] I. Abt et al. [HERA-B Collaboration], Eur. Phys. J. C 49 (2007) 545 [arXiv:hep-ex/0607046].
- [206] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607048.
- [207] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 071101 [arXiv:hep-ex/0607050].
- [208] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607051.
- [209] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607053.
- [210] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607055.
- [211] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **97** (2006) 201801 [arXiv:hep-ex/0607057].

- [212] B. Aubert et al. [BaBar Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607058.
- [213] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607060.
- [214] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607062.
- [215] B. Aubert *et al.* [BaBar Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 051106 [arXiv:hep-ex/0607063].
- [216] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607064.
- [217] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607065.
- [218] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607066.
- [219] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607067.
- [220] B. Aubert *et al.* [BaBar Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **97** (2006)
 171803 [arXiv:hep-ex/0607071].
- [221] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607076.
- [222] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 052005 [arXiv:hep-ex/0607077].
- [223] B. Aubert et al. [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607081.
- [224] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 111105 [arXiv:hep-ex/0607083].
- [225] B. Aubert et al. [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607084.
- [226] B. Aubert et al. [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607085.
- [227] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607086.
- [228] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **97** (2006) 211801 [arXiv:hep-ex/0607089].
- [229] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607090.
- [230] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607091.
- [231] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **97** (2006) 261801 [arXiv:hep-ex/0607092].
- [232] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **98** (2007) 141801 [arXiv:hep-ex/0607094].

- [233] B. Aubert et al. [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607096.
- [234] B. Aubert et al. [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607097.
- [235] B. Aubert et al. [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607098.
- [236] B. Aubert et al. [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607099.
- [237] B. Aubert et al. [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607100.
- [238] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607101.
- [239] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607104.
- [240] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607105.
- [241] B. Aubert et al. [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607106.
- [242] B. Aubert et al. [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607107.
- [243] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607108.
- [244] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **98** (2007) 051802 [arXiv:hep-ex/0607109].
- [245] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607110.
- [246] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 091105 [arXiv:hep-ex/0607111].
- [247] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0607112.
- [248] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 051104 [arXiv:hep-ex/0607113].
- [249] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], arXiv:hep-ex/0608002.
- [250] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **75** (2007) 072002 [arXiv:hep-ex/0606026].
- [251] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 032005 [arXiv:hep-ex/0606031].
- [252] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **97** (2006) 112001 [arXiv:hep-ex/0606039].
- [253] I. Abt et al. [HERA-B Collaboration], Eur. Phys. J. C 50 (2007) 315 [arXiv:hep-ex/0606049].

- [254] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 072008 [arXiv:hep-ex/0606050].
- [255] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **97** (2006) 112002 [arXiv:hep-ex/0606054].
- [256] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 032003 [arXiv:hep-ex/0605003].
- [257] B. Aubert *et al.* [BaBar Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 031105 [arXiv:hep-ex/0605008].
- [258] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 051102 [arXiv:hep-ex/0605017].
- [259] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 012002 [arXiv:hep-ex/0605018].
- [260] B. Aubert *et al.* [BaBar Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 031104 [arXiv:hep-ex/0605024].
- [261] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 031103 [arXiv:hep-ex/0605036].
- [262] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 011102 [arXiv:hep-ex/0605037].
- [263] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 011107 [arXiv:hep-ex/0605044].
- [264] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 011103 [arXiv:hep-ex/0605075].
- [265] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **73** (2006) 091101 [arXiv:hep-ex/0604006].
- [266] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **73** (2006) 092001 [arXiv:hep-ex/0604007].
- [267] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 012001 [arXiv:hep-ex/0604009].
- [268] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **98** (2007) 081801 [arXiv:hep-ex/0604012].

- [269] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 112003 [arXiv:hep-ex/0604014].
- [270] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 031101 [arXiv:hep-ex/0604016].
- [271] B. Aubert *et al.* [BaBar Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 111104 [arXiv:hep-ex/0604017].
- [272] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 032007 [arXiv:hep-ex/0604030].
- [273] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **96** (2006) 232001 [arXiv:hep-ex/0604031].
- [274] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 112004 [arXiv:hep-ex/0604037].
- [275] B. Aubert *et al.* [BaBar Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 011101 [arXiv:hep-ex/0603012].
- [276] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D **73** (2006) 071102 [arXiv:hep-ex/0603013].
- [277] I. Abt et al. [HERA-B Collaboration], Phys. Lett. B 638 (2006) 13 [arXiv:hep-ex/0603015].
- [278] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 011106 [arXiv:hep-ex/0603040].
- [279] I. Abt et al. [HERA-B Collaboration], Phys. Lett. B 638 (2006) 415 [arXiv:hep-ex/0603047].
- [280] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **97** (2006) 051802 [arXiv:hep-ex/0603050].
- [281] B. Aubert *et al.* [BABAR Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **96** (2006) 251802 [arXiv:hep-ex/0603053].

A. Adametz

[282] B. Aubert *et al.* [BaBar Collaboration], Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 479, 1 (2002).

- [283] P.F. Harrison, H.R. Quinn, The BaBar Physics Book Physics at an Asymmetric B Factory, SLAC-R-504 (19 98).
- [284] W.-M. Yao *et al.*, J. Phys. G **33**, 1 (2006)
- [285] E. Gamiz et al., JHEP 01 (2003) 060, hep-ph/0212230, Phys. Rev. Lett. 94 (2005) 011803, hep-ph/0408044.

J. Knopf

- [286] J. Knopf in Letheren, M and Claude, S [LECC 2006], "12th Workshop on Electronics for LHC and Future Experiments", CERN (2007)
- [287] A. Berkien et al. "The LHCb outer tracker front end electronics." CERN-LHCB-2005-025, Apr 2005. 26pp.
- [288] J. Knopf, R. Muckerheide, U. Stange, U. Trunk, U. Uwer, D. Wiedner "Wafer test of the LHCb outer tracker TDC-chip." Prepared for 12th Workshop on Electronics for LHC and Future Experiments (LECC 2006), Valencia, Spain, 25-29 Sep 2006. Published in *Valencia 2006, Electronics for LHC and future experiments* 475-478.
- [289] D. Wiedner et al. Sep 2006. 5pp. "The readout system for the LHCb outer tracker.", Prepared for 12th Workshop on Electronics for LHC and Future Experiments (LECC 2006), Valencia, Spain, 25-29 Sep 2006. Published in *Valencia 2006, Electronics for LHC and future experiments* 148-152
- [290] G.W. van Apeldoorn et al. "Beam tests of final modules and electronics of the LHCb outer tracker in 2005." CERN-LHCB-2005-076, Oct 2005. 36pp.
- [291] H. Deppe, U. Stange, U. Trunk, U. Uwer, The OTIS reference manual, CERN-LHCB-2008-010, Feb 2008.
- [292] U.Uwer et al., Specifications for the IF13-2 Prototype of the Auxiliary Board for the Outer Tracker, LHCb-2005-039; CERN-LHCb-2005-039.
- [293] G. v.Apeldoorn et al., Beam Tests of Final Modules and Electronics of the LHCb Outer Tracker in 2005, LHCb-2005-076; CERN-LHCb-2005-076.

- [294] J.Nardulli, A.Pellegrino, D.Wiedner, Outer Tracker Level 1 Data Format, LHCb-2005-031; CERN-LHCb-2005-031.
- [295] Berkien et al., The LHCb Outer Tracker Frontend Electronics, LHCb-2005-025; CERN-LHCb-2005-025.

Group K. Meier / H.-C. Schulz-Coulon

- [296] G. Aielli et al., The ATLAS Level-1 Trigger: Status of the System and First Results from Cosmic-Ray Data, Nuclear Instruments and Methods A, vol. 582, 2007, pp. 476-481.
- [297] R. Achenbach et al., Pre-production Validation of the ATLAS Level-1 Calorimeter Trigger System, IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, 53(2006)859863.
- [298] J. Garvey et al., The ATLAS Level-1 Calorimeter Trigger Architecture, IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, 51(2004)356360.
- [299] J. Garvey et al., ATLAS Level-1 Calorimeter Trigger: Subsystem tests of a Jet/Energy-sum Processor Module, IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, 51(2004)23562361.
- [300] J. Garvey et al., Use of an FPGA to Identify Electromagnetic Clusters and Isolated Hadrons in the ATLAS Level-1 Calorimeter Trigger, Nuclear Instruments and Methods A, vol. 512 no. 3, 2003, pp. 506-516.
- [301] R. Achenbach et al., First Measurements with the ATLAS Level-1 Calorimeter Trigger Preprocessor System, Proceedings of the Topical Workshop on Electronics for Particle Physics, 2007, Prague, Czech Republic
- [302] R. Achenbach et al., Commissioning of the Jet/Energy-sum and Cluster Processors for the ATLAS Level-1 Calorimeter Trigger System, Proceedings of the Topical Workshop on Electronics for Particle Physics, 2007, Prague, Czech Republic
- [303] R. Achenbach et al., Production test rig for the ATLAS level-1 calorimeter trigger digital processors, ATL-DAQ-CONF-2007-016, ATL-COM-DAQ-2007-022, 2007. 4pp.

- [304] R. Achenbach et al., Large scale production of the multi-chip module of the ATLAS level-1 calorimeter trigger, ATL-DAQ-CONF-2007-015, ATL-COM-DAQ-2007-021, 2007. 5pp.
- [305] J.R.A. Booth et al., Commissioning Experience with the ATLAS Level-1 Calorimeter Trigger System, Proceedings of the IEEE NPSS 15th Real Time Conference, 2007, Fermilab, Batavia, USA
- [306] R. Achenbach et al., High-density Backplanes. Problems and Solutions, Proceedings of the LECC2006 Workshop, Valencia, Spain, 2006.
- [307] J. Garvey et al., Beam Test of the ATLAS Level-1 Calorimeter Trigger System, Proceedings of the IEEE-NSS 2004 Workshop, Rome, Italy, 2004.
- [308] J. Garvey et al., ATLAS Level-1 Calorimeter Trigger: Subsystem Tests of a Prototype Cluster Processor, Proceedings of the 9th Workshop on Electronics for LHC Experiments, Amsterdam, Netherlands, 2003.
- [309] J. Garvey et al., Test results for the Jet/Energy-sum Processor of the ATLAS Level-1 Calorimeter Trigger, Proceedings of the 9th Workshop on Electronics for LHC Experiments Amsterdam, Netherlands, 2003.
- [310] J. Garvey et al., ATLAS Level-1 Calorimeter Trigger : Subsystem Tests of a Jet/Energy Sum Processor Module, Proceedings of the IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium, Portland, Oregon, USA, 2003.
- [311] J. Garvey et al., The ATLAS Level-1 Calorimeter Trigger Architecture, Proceedings of the 13th IEEE-NPSS Real Time Conference, Montreal, Canada, 2003.
- [312] A.W. Jung et al., First Results from the Third Level of the H1 Fast Track Trigger, Proceedings of the 15th Real Time Conference, 2007, Fermilab, Batavia, USA
- [313] C. Wissing et al., Performance of the H1 Fast Track Trigger operation and commissioning results, Proceedings of the IEEE-NSS 2005 Workshop, Stockholm, 2005.
- [314] C. Wissing et al., Performance of the H1 Fast Track, Proceedings of the IEEE-NPSS 2005 Workshop, Stockholm, 2005.

- [315] N. Berger et al., Performance of the H1 Fast Track Trigger, Proceedings of the IEEE-NSS 2004 Workshop, Rom, Italy, 2004.
- [316] E. Garutti et al., Application of novel Silicon-based photo-detector to calorimetry and medical physics, Proceedings of the Nuclear Science Symposium, 2007, Hawaii, USA
- [317] N. DAscenzo et al., Application of MPPC to Positron Emission Tomography, Proceedings of the International Workshop on New Photon Detectors, 2007, Kobe, Japan

A. Jung

- [318] I. Abt et al., The H1 Detector at HERA, Nucl. Instr. and Meth., vol. A386, pp.310 & 348, 1997.
- [319] A. Baird et al., A fast high resolution track trigger for the H1 experiment, IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., vol. 48, pp. 1276-1285, 2001.
- [320] A. Schöning, A fast track trigger for the H1 collaboration, Nucl. Instrum. Meth., vol. A518, pp. 542-543, 2004.
- [321] J.Butterworth, H. Jung, V. Lendermann, B. Waugh, *HZTool, JetWeb, CEDAR*, Proceedings of the HERA-LHC Workshop, 2004, CERN/DESY.
- [322] N. Berger et al., First Results from the First Level of the H1 Fast Track Trigger, Proc. of the 2004 NSS Symposium, Oct. 2004, Rome, Italy.
- [323] Ch. Wissing et al., Performance of the H1 Fast Track Trigger Operation and Commissioning Results, Proc. of the 14th IEEE - NPSS Real time Conference 2005, p233-236, Stockholm, Sweden.
- [324] A.W. Jung, Abschliessende Tests der dritten Triggerstufe des H1 Fast Track Triggers, DPG Verhandlungen, Mrz 2005, Berlin.
- [325] A.W. Jung, Uber das Leistungsverhalten der dritten Triggerstufe bei H1, DPG Verhandlungen, Mrz 2006, Dortmund.
- [326] A.W. Jung, Exklusive Endzustände mit dem Fast Track Trigger, DPG Verhandlungen, Mrz 2007, Heidelberg.

[327] A.W. Jung et al., First Results from the Third Level of the H1 Fast Track Trigger, Proc. of the 15th IEEE - NPSS Real time Conference 2007, Chicago (Fermilab), USA.

G. Andrei

[328] R. Achenbach et al., Commissioning Experience with the ATLAS Level-1 Calorimeter Trigger System, IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, 2007, to be published

F. Rühr

[329] R. Achenbach et al., Pre-production Validation of the ATLAS Level-1 Calorimeter Trigger System, *IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science*, 53 (2006) 859-863

Group U. Kebschul

- [330] Gerd Troeger (Univ. Heidelberg), Ketil Roed (Univ. Bergen):Improving on FPGA Radiation Tolerance, Proceedings of "DPG Jahrestagung 2005", 2005
- [331] Gerd Troeger: Improving on FPGA Radiation Tolerance, IRTG seminar talk, 2005
- [332] Gerd Troeger: Basics of Dynamic Reconfguration, IRTG seminar talk, 2005
- [333] G. Troeger, J. Alme, R. Campagnolo, U. Kebschull, V. Lindenstruth, L. Musa, K. Roed, D. Roehrich: Reconfguration in ALICE and beyond, Proceedings of LECC 2005, 2005
- [334] Gerd Troeger: Radiation Damage to Electronics, IRTG seminar talk, 2005auth:
- [335] G. Troeger, U. Kebschull, V. Lindenstruth, J. Alme, K.Roed, D. Roehrich, R. Campagnolo., L. Musa: FPGAs - Reconfguration for Radiation Tolerance, GSI Jahresbericht 2005, 2006
- [336] A.D. Oltean Karlsson, G. Troeger: An interface solution at 53.76 Gb/s input bandwidth to a single Xilinx Virtex-II Pro FPGA - a practical challenge, Optim 2006 IEEE conference, Proceedings of "Optim 2006", 2006
- [337] G. Troeger: Confguration and Radiation Tolerance Issues for Virtex-4, CBM Collaboration Meeting at GSI, 2006
- [338] J.Alme, K.Roed, K.Ullaland, D.Roehrich, G.Troeger: Case Study of a Solution for Active Partial Reconfiguration of a Xilinx Virtex-II Pro, Proceedings of "FPGAworld 2006", 2006
- [339] Gerd Troeger: SEU Test Summary, CBM Collaboration Meeting at GSI, 2007
- [340] Gerd Troeger, Improving Radiation Toler- ance of FPGAs in High-Energy Physics Applications, DATE 2007 conference, PhD forum, 2007
- [341] Gerd Troeger: Data Acquisition: From the signal to the result, how does the analogmeasurement get into the histogram? IRTG seminar talk, 2007

G. Tröger

- [342] LECC2005 conference paper and presentation, FPGA Dynamic Reconfiguration in ALICE and beyond 2005-09-16
- [343] GSI Jahresbericht 2005, FPGAs Reconfiguration for Radiation Tolerance 2006-09-01
- [344] Optim 2006 IEEE conference, paper and talk, An interface solution at 53.76 Gb/s input bandwidth to a single Xilinx Virtex-II Pro FPGA
 - a practical challenge 2006-02-14
- [345] FPGAworld 2006 conference, paper, Case Study of a Solution for Active Partial Reconfiguration of a Xilinx Virtex-II Pro 2006-11-16

Group V. Lindenstruth

[346] W. Trautmann et al. [ALADIN Collaboration], "Thermal and Chemical Freeze-out in Spectator Fragmentation," Phys. Rev. C 76 (2007) 064606 [arXiv:0708.4115 [nucl-ex]].

- [347] S. Bablok *et al.*, "Front-end-electronics communication software for multiple detectors in the ALICE experiment," Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 557 (2006) 631.
- [348] T. Alt *et al.* [ALICE Collaboration], "Benchmarks and implementation of the ALICE high level trigger," IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci. 53 (2006) 854.
- [349] M. Richter *et al.* [ALICE Collaboration], "The control system for the front-end electronics of the ALICE time IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci. 53 (2006) 980.
- [350] G. Troger et al., "FPGA dynamic reconfiguration in ALICE and beyond," Prepared for 11th Workshop on Electronics for LHC and Future Experiments (LECC 2005), Heidelberg, Germany, 12-16 September 2005
- [351] K. Roed et al., "Irradiation tests of the complete ALICE TPC frontend electronics chain," Prepared for 11th Workshop on Electronics for LHC and Future Experiments (LECC 2005), Heidelberg, Germany, 12-16 September 2005
- [352] M. Richter et al., "Communication software for the ALICE TPC front-end electronics," Prepared for 11th Workshop on Electronics for LHC and Future Experiments (LECC 2005), Heidelberg, Germany, 12-16 September 2005
- [353] V. Lindenstruth *et al.*, "Real-time TPC analysis with the AL-ICE high-level trigger," Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A **534** (2004) 47 [arXiv:physics/0403063].
- [354] V. Lindenstruth and L. Musa [ALICE Collaboration], "Fast ondetector integrated signal processing status and perspectives," Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 522 (2004) 33.
- [355] T. Alt *et al.* [ALICE Collaboration], "The ALICE high level trigger," J. Phys. G **30** (2004) S1097.
- [356] H. Tilsner et al. [ALICE Collaboration], "The high-level trigger of ALICE," Eur. Phys. J. C 33 (2004) S1041.
- [357] V. Lindenstruth and I. Kisel, "Overview of trigger systems," Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 535 (2004) 48.

- [358] V. Lindenstruth *et al.*, "Online pattern recognition for the ALICE High Level Trigger," IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci. **51** (2004) 3 [IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci. **51** (2004) 383] [arXiv:physics/0310052].
- [359] G. Grastveit et al. [ALICE Collaboration], "FPGA co-processor for the ALICE high level trigger," In the Proceedings of 2003 Conference for Computing in High-Energy and Nuclear Physics (CHEP 03), La Jolla, California, 24-28 Mar 2003, pp THHT001 [arXiv:physics/0306017].
- [360] T. M. Steinbeck, V. Lindenstruth and H. Tilsner [ALICE Collaboration], "A Software Data Transport Framework for Trigger Applications on Clusters," In the Proceedings of 2003 Conference for Computing in High-Energy and Nuclear Physics (CHEP 03), La Jolla, California, 24-28 Mar 2003, pp TUGT003 [arXiv:cs/0306029].
- [361] O. Barring et al., "Towards automation of computing fabrics using tools from the fabric management workpackage of the EU DataGrid project," In the Proceedings of 2003 Conference for Computing in High-Energy and Nuclear Physics (CHEP 03), La Jolla, California, 24-28 Mar 2003, pp MODT004 [arXiv:cs/0305050].
- [362] R. Bramm *et al.* [ALICE Collaboration], "High-level trigger system for the LHC ALICE experiment," Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 502 (2003) 441.
- [363] R. Bramm *et al.* [ALICE Collaboration], "Online pattern recognition for the ALICE high level trigger," Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 502 (2003) 443.

Group N. Herrmann

- [364] X. Lopez et al., "Subthreshold Production Of Sigma(1385) Baryons In Al + Al Collisions At 1.9a-Gev," Phys. Rev. C 76 (2007) 052203.
- [365] X. Lopez *et al.* [FOPI Collboration Collaboration], "Sub-threshold production of $\Sigma(1385)$ baryons in Al+Al collisions at 1.9A GeV," arXiv:0710.5007 [nucl-ex].
- [366] M. Merschmeyer et al., "K0 and Lambda production in Ni+Ni collisions near threshold," Phys. Rev. C 76 (2007) 024906.

- [367] N. Bastid *et al.* [FOPI Collaboration], "K0 and Lambda production in Ni + Ni collisions near threshold," arXiv:nucl-ex/0703036.
- [368] X. Lopez et al. [FOPI Collaboration], "Isospin dependence of relative yields of K+ and K0 mesons at 1.528-A-GeV," Phys. Rev. C 75 (2007) 011901 [arXiv:nucl-ex/0701006].
- [369] V. Ammosov *et al.*, "Performance of RPC with low-resistive silicate glass electrodes exposed to Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A **576** (2007) 331.
- [370] M. Ciobanu *et al.*, "A front-end electronics card comprising a high gain/high bandwidth amplifier and a fast discriminator for time-offlight measurements," IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci. 54 (2007) 1201.
- [371] A. Akindinov *et al.*, "RPC with low-resistive phosphate glass electrodes as a candidate for the Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 572 (2007) 676 [arXiv:physics/0612083].
- [372] W. Reisdorf *et al.* [FOPI Collaboration], "Systematics of pion emission in heavy ion collisions in the 1-A-GeV regime," Nucl. Phys. A 781 (2007) 459 [arXiv:nucl-ex/0610025].
- [373] A. Schuttauf *et al.*, "Performance Of The Multistrip-Mrpcs For Fopi," Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. **158** (2006) 52.
- [374] A. Andronic *et al.* [ALICE Collaboration], "Transition radiation spectra of electrons from 1-GeV/c to 10-GeV/c in regular and irregular radiators," Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 558 (2006) 516 [arXiv:physics/0511229].
- [375] C. Adler *et al.* [ALICE Collaboration], "Electron / pion identification with ALICE TRD prototypes using a neural network algorithm," arXiv:physics/0506202.
- [376] N. Bastid *et al.* [FOPI Collaboration], "First analysis of anisotropic flow with Lee-Yang zeroes," Phys. Rev. C 72 (2005) 011901 [arXiv:nucl-ex/0504002].
- [377] B. Hong et al. [FOPI Collaboration], "Charged pion production in (44)Ru-96 + (44)Ru-96 collisions at 400-A-MeV and 1528-A-MeV," Phys. Rev. C 71 (2005) 034902 [arXiv:nucl-ex/0501021].
- [378] C. Adler *et al.* [ALICE Collaboration], "Position reconstruction in drift chambers operated with Xe, CO-2 (15%)," Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 540 (2005) 140 [arXiv:physics/0511233].

- [379] C. Adler *et al.* [ALICE Collaboration], "Electron / pion identification with ALICE TRD prototypes using a neural network algorithm," Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 552 (2005) 364.
- [380] A. Andronic *et al.* [FOPI Collaboration], "Excitation function of elliptic flow in Au + Au collisions and the nuclear matter equation of state," Phys. Lett. B **612** (2005) 173 [arXiv:nucl-ex/0411024].
- [381] N. Bastid *et al.*, "Shape parameters of the participant source in Ru+Ru collisions at 400A MeV," Nucl. Phys. A **742** (2004) 29.
- [382] R. Kotte *et al.* [FOPI Collaboration], "Two-proton small-angle correlations in central heavy-ion collisions: A beam energy and systemsize dependent study," Eur. J. Phys. A 23 (2005) 271 [arXiv:nuclex/0409008].
- [383] W. Reisdorf *et al.* [FOPI Collaboration], "Droplet formation in expanding nuclear matter: A system-size dependent study," Phys. Lett. B 595 (2004) 118 [arXiv:nucl-ex/0405014].
- [384] O. Busch et al. [ALICE TRD Collaboration], "Transition radiation spectroscopy with prototypes of the ALICE TRD," Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 522 (2004) 45 [arXiv:physics/0404106].
- [385] W. Reisdorf *et al.* [FOPI Collaboration], "Nuclear stopping from 0.09-A-GeV to 1.93-A-GeV and its correlation to flow," Phys. Rev. Lett. **92** (2004) 232301 [arXiv:nucl-ex/0404037].
- [386] A. Andronic *et al.* [ALICE Collaboration], "Space charge in drift chambers operated with the Xe,CO-2(15Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 525 (2004) 447 [arXiv:physics/0402043].
- [387] G. Stoicea *et al.* [FOPI Collaboration], "Azimuthal dependence of collective expansion for symmetric heavy ion collisions," Phys. Rev. Lett. **92** (2004) 072303 [arXiv:nucl-ex/0401041].
- [388] N. Herrmann and K. Wisniewski [FOPI Collaboration], "Hadronic matter properties from the reaction studies at SIS," Acta Phys. Polon. B 35 (2004) 1091.
- [389] A. Andronic *et al.* [ALICE COllaboration Collaboration], "Energy loss of pions and electrons of 1-GeV/c to 6-GeV/c in drift chambers operated with Xe,CO-2(15Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 519 (2004) 508 [arXiv:physics/0310122].

- [390] A. Andronic *et al.* [ALICE Collaboration], "Pulse height measurements and electron attachment in drift chambers operated with Xe, CO-2 mixtures," Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A **498** (2003) 143 [arXiv:physics/0303059].
- [391] A. Andronic *et al.* [FOPI Collaboration], "Directed flow in Au+Au, Xe+CsI and Ni+Ni collisions and the nuclear Phys. Rev. C 67 (2003) 034907 [arXiv:nucl-ex/0301009].
- [392] A. Mangiarotti *et al.*, "Sub-threshold phi meson yield in central Ni-58 + Ni-58 collisions," Nucl. Phys. A **714** (2003) 89.
- [393] M. Petrovici *et al.*, "Multistrip multigap symmetric RPC," Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 508 (2003) 75.

Chapter 10

Signatures

Approval by the rectorate of Heidelberg University

The rectorate strongly supports the grant application to the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft to maintain the International Graduate School on 'Intelligent Detectors' based on an intense collaboration with the University of Bergen and the University of Oslo.

In the case of a positive decision by the DFG, the University will provide the necessary infrastructure and the work space for the Ph.D. students from the partner universities during their mobility period.

Ruprecht-Karls-Universität Heidelberg

For the applicants German principal Investigator

Norwegian principal investigator

1. Hem com

(Prof. Dr. Norbert Herrmann)

it RI

(Prof. Dr. Dieter Roehrich)